
STAYTON PLANNING COMMISSION 

AGENDA 

7:00 pm 

Monday, January 31, 2022 

HYBRID MEETING 

The Stayton Planning Commission will be holding a hybrid meeting utilizing Zoom video conferencing software. The 

meeting will be in-person but can also either be “attended” virtually or watched on the live stream on the City of 

Stayton’s YouTube account. 

City officials request all citizens that are able, to join the meeting online from home.  Social distancing is essential in 

reducing the spread of COVID-19.  The City is using technology to make meetings available to the public without 

increasing the risk of exposure.  If you would like to virtually participate in the meeting, please contact the Planning and 

Development Department at dfleishman@staytonoregon.gov to receive an invitation to the online meeting. 

Watch the meeting live streamed on YouTube https://youtu.be/2oh3rLXPjAo 

1. CALL TO ORDER Chair Lewis 

2. INTRODUCTION OF NEW MEMBER 

3. ELECTION OF CHAIR 

4. MEETING MINUTES – November 29, 2021 

5. LAND USE FILE #15-12/21 –PUBLIC HEARING Application for Comprehensive Plan 

Map Amendment and Official Zoning Map Amendment, Freres Building Supply, 182 W 

Ida St and 209 W Water St

a. Commencement of Public Hearing 
b. Staff Introduction 
c. Applicant Presentation 
d. Staff Report 
e. Questions from the Commission 
f. Proponents’ Testimony 
g. Opponents’ Testimony 
h. Governmental Agencies 

i. General Testimony 
j. Questions from the Public 
k. Questions from the Commission 
l. Applicant Summary 

m. Staff Summary 
n. Close of Hearing 
o. Commission Deliberation 
p. Commission Decision

6. LAND USE FILE #16-12/21 –PUBLIC HEARING Application for Site Plan Review. GFP 

Enterprises, 1319 W Washington St

a. Commencement of Public Hearing 
b. Staff Introduction 
c. Applicant Presentation 
d. Staff Report 
e. Questions from the Commission 
f. Proponents’ Testimony 
g. Opponents’ Testimony 
h. Governmental Agencies 

i. General Testimony 
j. Questions from the Public 
k. Questions from the Commission 
l. Applicant Summary 

m. Staff Summary 
n. Close of Hearing 
o. Commission Deliberation 
p. Commission Decision

7. OTHER BUSINESS 

8. ADJOURN 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING:   Monday, February 28, 2022 

mailto:dfleishman@staytonoregon.gov


 

       Ci t y  o f  S t ayt on  
Department of Planning and Development 

362 N. Third Avenue • Stayton, OR 97383 
Phone: (503) 769-2998 • Fax (503) 769-2134 

dfleishman@staytonoregon.gov www.staytonoregon.gov 

THE CITY OF STAYTON IS AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER AND SERVICE PROVIDER 
   

POLICE 
386 N. THIRD AVENUE 
STAYTON, OR 97383 

(503) 769-3423 
 FAX (503) 769-7497 

PLANNING AND 

DEVELOPMENT 
362 N. THIRD AVENUE 
STAYTON, OR 97383 

(503) 769-2998 
FAX (503) 767-2134 

PUBLIC WORKS 
362 N. THIRD AVENUE 
STAYTON, OR 97383 

(503) 769-2919 
FAX (503) 767-2134 

WASTEWATER 
950 JETTERS WAY 

STAYTON, OR 97383 
(503) 769-2810 

FAX (503) 769-7413 

LIBRARY 
515 N. FIRST AVENUE 
STAYTON, OR 97383 

(503) 769-3313 
FAX (503) 769-3218 

 

 

 

 TO: Chairperson Ralph Lewis and Planning Commission Members 

 

 FROM: Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning and Development 

 

 SUBJECT: January Agenda Items 

 

 DATE: January 31, 2022 

 

• There is a new member to introduce.  Larry McKinley was appointed by the 

city Council at their January 3 meeting. 

• Section 2.36.920 of the City’s Code indicates that the Commission shall elect 

its own chair and vice-chair at the January meeting.  Jackie Carmichael had 

been the vice-chair. 

• With a new member, and considering it has been three years since we have 

held one, under other business let’s discuss dates for a general training session 

and whether we want to do it in person or virtually. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  
STAYTON PLANNING COMMISSION 

MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, November 29, 2021 

 
 COMMISSIONERS: Dixie Ellard  
  Heidi Hazel  
  Richard Lewis 
  Ralph Lewis, Chairman 
 
 STAFF MEMBERS: Dan Fleishman, Planning & Development Director 
  Windy Cudd, Office Specialist, Minutes   
 
 OTHERS PRESENT: Zach Pelz, AKS Engineering & Forestry 
 Lauren Benjamin, Marketing & Public Relations, Santiam Hospital 
 Kelly Reid, Ramsay Signs: Paul Hartman, Director of Facilities, Santiam Hospital 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Chairman Lewis called the meeting to order at 7:01 pm. 
2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Hazel moved, and Richard Lewis seconded to approve the 

minutes from October 25, 2021, as presented.  The motion was approved 4:0.  
3. LAND USE FILE #13-10/21 PUBLIC HEARING- Application for Variance, Santiam 

Hospital, 1401 N Tenth Ave 
a. Commencement of Public Hearing- Chair Lewis read the opening statement and opened 

the hearing at 7:02 pm.  No objections were made from the audience to the notice on this 
case or the jurisdiction of this body to hear the case.  There were no declarations of conflict 
of interest, ex parte contact, or bias by members of the Planning Commission.   

b. Staff Introduction- Fleishman explained the application for sign variance. Mr. Fleishman 
stated code requirements for variances.  Explained reasons for variance, can’t meet both 
requirements of set back and FAA clearance zone requirements for the helipad. 

c. Applicant Presentation- Lauren Benjamin, Santiam Hospital, requesting committee to 
allow a new monument sign at the corner of N Tenth Ave and E Fir St.  

Kelly Reid of Ramsay Signs, representing Santiam Hospital, applying for variance of 
sign, aviation regulations for helipad.  Asking for permission to install within the required 
5ft setback, pending survey to mark exact location. 

d. Staff Report- Fleishman recommended to staff to approve the variance request with 
conditions of approval. 

• Sign Permit to include a statement signed by a registered engineer to meet all site 
distance requirements. 

• Once sign is erected, they return with a statement from professional engineer that 
they did comply with required specifications and stay out of sight triangle. 

e. Questions from Commission- Ralph Lewis asked about the shrubbery height.  Fleishman 
explained that it would have to be trimmed or removed. 

f. Commission Decision- Hazel moved and Richard Lewis seconded to approve application 
adopting the draft order as presented.  Passed 4:0. 

g. Close of Hearing- Chair Lewis closed the hearing at 7:16 pm 



  
4. LAND USE FILE #10-08/21 -PUBLIC HEARING Application for Site Plan Review, 

State Investments LLC, Golf Club Rd 
a. Commencement of Public Hearing- Chair Lewis read the opening statement and opened 

the hearing at 7:18 pm.  No objections were made from the audience to the notice on this 
case or the jurisdiction of this body to hear the case.  There were no declarations of conflict 
of interest, ex parte contact, or bias by members of the Planning Commission.   

b. Staff Introduction- Fleishman informed the Commission that the application is for Site 
Plan Review for a multi-family development.  The City Council finalized the annexation, 
High-Density zoning applied to Parcel, the partitioning was recently finalized, and the 
project is ready to move forward with Review. 

c. Applicant’s Presentation- Zach Pelz, Land Use Planner for AKS Engineering, spoke about 
the key highlights.  Site was part of an annexation and partition in July 2020. Just under 5.25 
acres zones HD Residential multi-family.  There would be 10 buildings, including a club 
house and storage onsite.  Improvements to Golf Club Rd with 20 feet of right of way, for 
turn lane and to include a 12-inch water main to be installed.  These improvements can be 
approved without variances.  Pelz is asking the Committee for approval of Site Plan Review. 

d. Staff Report- Fleishman Discussed the 4 issues that came up. 
1. Stormwater:  Complying with the City’s design standards for storm water may actually 
result in reconfiguring the layout. 
2.  Transportation Impact:  Revised analysis was received, reviewed, and addressed all 
concerns. 
3.  12-inch water main will be installed 
4.  Open space for multi-family development was met. 
Fleishman states that he does not believe these issues will be problem with an approval. 
Fleishman recommended that Commission approve revised draft order as presented. 

e. Questions from the Commission- None 
f. Applicant Summary- Pelz reassured the panel they are confident the Stormwater issues 

would be revised. 
g. Staff Summary- Fleishman had nothing more to add. 
h. Commission Decision- Hazel moved and Ellard seconded to approve application for Site 

Plan Review. Passed 4:0. 
i. Close of Hearing- Chair Lewis closed the hearing at 7:49 pm. 

 
5.  LAND USE FILE #12-10/21 PUBLIC HEARING Legislative Amendments to the Land 

Use Development Code regarding standards for Accessory Dwelling Units 
a. Commencement of Public Hearing- Chair Lewis read the opening statement and opened 

the hearing at 7:52 pm. No objections were made from the audience to the notice on this 
case or the jurisdiction of this body to hear the case.  There were no declarations of conflict 
of interest, ex parte contact, or bias by members of the Planning Commission.   

b. Staff Report- Fleishman explained that the proposed amendment would allow an Accessory 
Dwelling Unit on a lot with a single family detached dwelling in any residential zone. 

c. Questions from Commission- None 



  
d. Staff Summary- Fleishman had nothing more to add. 
e. Commission Decision- Hazel moved and Richard Lewis seconded to adopt the draft order 

prepared by staff and forward to the City Council with a recommendation for adoption. 
Passed 4:0. 
 

6. OTHER BUSINESS- December 13th meeting was cancelled.  
 

ADJOURN:  Chairman Lewis adjourned the meeting at 8:02pm. 



C it y  o f  S t ayt on  

Department of Planning and Development 
362 N. Third Avenue • Stayton, OR 97383 

Phone: (503) 769-2998 • Fax (503) 769-2134 

dfleishman@staytonoregon.gov www.staytonoregon.gov 
 

 

1 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 TO: Chairperson Ralph Lewis and Planning Commission Members 

 FROM: Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning and Development 

 DATE: January 31, 2022 

 SUBJECT: Comprehensive Plan Map and Zoning Map Amendments, Freres 

Building Supply, W Water St  

 120 DAYS ENDS:  N/A 

 

 

ISSUE 

The issue before the Planning Commission is a public hearing on applications for Comprehensive 

Plan Map amendment and Zoning Map amendment for two properties on W Water St.   

BACKGROUND 

The properties are located on the north side of W Water St.  One property is addressed as 209 W 

Water St and is developed with a single family dwelling and with a storage shed and outdoor 

storage for building supplies.  The other property is Parcel 2 of Partition Plat 2021-094, just 

recorded in December and not yet reflected on the tax maps.  A March, 2020 aerial photo of the 

properties is below, showing the existing zoning boundaries: 

 



C it y  o f  S t ayt on  

 

 

2 

As a Comprehensive Plan Map amendment and Zoning Map amendment, the Planning 

Commission’s role is make a recommendation to the City Council, who will hold their own public 

hearing and reach a final decision on the applications. 

ANALYSIS 

This report presents the Planning Staff’s summary and analysis concerning these applications.  It 

was developed with the input of other City departments and agencies. 

Attached are applications for Comprehensive Plan Map amendment and Zoning Map amendment 

from Freres Building Supply.  The applications consist of the application forms and a narrative, a 

preliminary site plan, and a transportation planning rule analysis.  

Also included in the packet are emails from the City Engineer and from Kittelson & Associates. 

Staff’s concern is that if the map amendments are finalized as requested that Parcel 1 of the 

Partition Plat 2021-094 will be split between the MD and HD zones.  Therefore, the draft order 

includes a recommendation that the Zoning Map be further amended to include the entirety of 

Parcel 1 in the MD zone. 

RECOMMENDATION 

The staff recommendation for approval is reflected in the draft order that is attached to the staff 

report. 

There may be testimony at the public hearing that requires the draft order be modified to reflect that 

testimony. 

OPTIONS AND SUGGESTED MOTIONS 

Staff has provided the Planning Commission with a number of options, each with an appropriate 

motion.  The Planning Department recommends the first option. 

1. Recommend approval of the applications, adopting the draft order as presented. 

I move the Stayton Planning Commission recommend approval of the application of Freres 

Building Supply (Land Use File #15-12/21) and adopt the draft order presented by Staff.  

2. Recommend approval of the applications, adopting modifications to the draft order. 

I move the Stayton Planning Commission recommend approval of the application of Freres 

Building Supply (Land Use File #15-12/21) adopt the draft order with the following changes...  

3. Recommend denial of the applications. 

I move that the Stayton Planning Commission recommend denial of the applications of Freres 

Building Supply (Land Use File #15-12/21) and direct staff to modify the draft order to reflect 

the Planning Commission’s discussion and bring a revised draft order for Planning Commission 

approval at the February 28, 2022 meeting.  

4. Continue the hearing until February 28, 2022. 

I move the Stayton Planning Commission continue the public hearing on the applications of 

Freres Building Supply (Land Use File #15-12/21) February 28, 2022.  

5. Close the hearing but keep the record open for submission of written testimony. 

I move the Stayton Planning Commission close the hearing on the applications of Freres 

Building Supply (Land Use File #15-12/21) but maintain the record open to submissions by the 



C it y  o f  S t ayt on  

 

 

3 

applicant until February 14, allowing 7 days for review and rebuttal and then an additional 7 

days for the applicant to reply, with final closure of the record on February 28, 2022.  

6. Close the hearing and record, and continue the deliberation to the next meeting. 

I move the Stayton Planning Commission continue the deliberation on the applications of Freres 

Building Supply (Land Use File #15-12/21) until February 28, 2022. 







 
 

 
 

 Tross Consulting, Inc.              1720 Liberty St. SE, Salem, Oregon 97302 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPLICANT'S STATEMENT  

for  

FRERES BUILDING SUPPLY 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP AMENDMENT AND ZONE CHANGE 

for a NEW BUILDING MATERIALS WAREHOUSE 
 

 



 

 
 

1 

 

SUMMARY OF THE PROPOSAL 

Freres Building Supply (FBS) proposes to add a new building materials warehouse 

to its facilities at its downtown location. The proposed location is a property it 

owns adjacent on the north to its retail store at 101 N. 1st Avenue, identified as Tax 

Lot 6300. The property is approximately 32,647 s.f., or .75 acre, and it is vacant.  

 

The parcel is currently zoned HD/ High-Density Residential and CR/Commercial 

Retail. Its dual zoning was part of a recent Minor Modification (lot line 

adjustment) that consolidated Tax Lot 6300 (HD) with former Tax Lot 6600 (CR). 

As a result, approximately 27,878 s.f. of the parcel is HD and 4,769 s.f is CR. 

 

In order to allow the new warehouse a change is requested to the HD portion's 

Comprehensive Plan designation from Residential to Commercial, with a zone 

change to CR. Another parcel, Tax Lot 6500, which is adjacent on the south of TL 

6300 and to the west of the store, is also proposed for the same Plan and zone 

change. That parcel will be the location of the driveway access to the proposed 

new warehouse.  

 

BACKGROUND 

Freres Building Supply has been an anchor at the south end of the Stayton 

downtown business district since the store was established in 1946 at the northwest 

corner of N. 1st Avenue and W. Water Street. Over time the business has expanded 

to meet the needs of the community and it currently occupies several additional 

parcels along the south side of W. Water St., west of 1st Avenue. These contiguous 

parcels are used for warehousing and outdoor storage of a wide range of building 

materials including lumber, siding, roofing, and fencing, among others. The retail 

store is identified on County Assessor's map 9-1W-10CD as Tax Lot 6800, and the 

warehouse parcels on the south side of W. Water Street are Tax Lots 6900, 7000, 

7400, and 7500. All of these parcels are designated Commercial on the 

Comprehensive Plan Map, and they are zoned CR/Commercial Retail. The 

business is a permitted use in the CR zone.  

 



 

 
 

2 

 

To further improve its operation and its ability to serve the community, FBS 

proposes to build a new warehouse on a vacant parcel that is adjacent on the north 

to the retail store. This is Tax Lot 6300 (recently consolidated with former adjacent 

Tax Lot 6600). Most of parcel 6300 is currently designated Residential on the 

Comprehensive Plan Map and is zoned HD/High-Density Residential. In order to 

allow the new building materials warehouse FBS requests to change the Comp 

Plan Map designation to Commercial and the zone to CR. Former Tax Lot 6600 

was designated Commercial and zoned CR, and that zoning remains as part of the 

consolidated parcel. 

 

Parcel 6300 lacks frontage on a public street, which causes it to be "landlocked" 

and limits its development regardless of how it is zoned. To provide it with access 

to a public street FBS proposes a concurrent Comp Plan Map Change and Zone 

Change for adjacent Tax Lot 6500, which is on the north side of W. Water St. 

adjacent to the west of the retail store, and directly across from the properties 

already occupied by the business. This parcel is also designated Residential and 

zoned HD, and the Plan/Zone Change to Commercial/CR is requested in order to 

allow its use as an access to the future warehouse on parcel 6300.   

 

Site Plan 

A preliminary site plan is included as a part of this application to show the 

proposal in relation to the existing retail store and warehouse at 101 N. 1st.  

The new warehouse is planned to be located in the south-east part of parcel 6300, 

just north of the retail store. This compact arrangement will allow for efficient 

movement of personnel and materials between and through the FBS facilities. 

Vehicle access to the new warehouse will be provided by a 20' wide driveway 

easement through parcel 6500 to W. Water St. The easement will access Water St. 

directly across from other properties used by the business, which are already zoned 

CR. By its location next to the store and directly across Water St. from other 

facilities used by the business, the two additional parcels and the new warehouse 

will become part of the FBS cluster at the south end of the downtown commercial 

center. 



 

 
 

3 

 

Relationship to the Land Use Pattern 

The cluster of FBS facilities represents the south end of the 1st Avenue 

commercial district. This district is reflected by the commercial zoning along the 

west side of the 1st Street frontage. Residential zones and neighborhoods are to the 

west of the commercial zoning.  

 

North of parcel 6300, the residential area along W. Ida Street, is zoned MD - 

Medium Density Residential. However, this area is composed of single-family 

homes and there is at present no medium density housing. To the west the 

neighborhood is zoned LD - Low Density Residential, which accurately reflects 

the neighborhood's composition of single-family homes. The two parcels that are 

the subject of this application (as well as adjacent parcel 6400) are the only 

properties in the neighborhood zoned for high-density residential use, and none 

have developed for that purpose. Parcel 6300 is the only vacant property. Parcels 

6500 and 6400, which front on W. Water St., are occupied by single-family homes 

which makes their conversion to high-density housing unlikely in any case. 

 

The proposed Comp Plan Change and Zone Change will change the land use 

pattern of the immediate area by replacing HD zoning with CR. The change will 

result in a zoning pattern that is familiar and consistent with existing conditions. 

Residential zones currently border the existing CR zoning, and the same pattern 

will result if the HD zone is changed to CR as proposed. The depth of CR zoning 

west of 1st Ave. will be similar to the existing, variable pattern of nearby CR 

properties, and it will be no greater than its current extent along the south side of 

W. Water St. By contrast, the current HD zoning would allow high-density 

residential development to intrude into this area of single-family homes, on an 

interior property that does not have frontage on a public street.  

 

The two parcels that are the subject of the application are adjacent to the existing 

FBS location. Since parcel 6300 is undeveloped no existing multifamily housing  

units will be lost. There is one single-family house on parcel 6500. A new building 

materials warehouse will create low demand on public services. All public 



 

 
 

4 

 

services are available and can be provided to the proposed use, but electric power  

is the only service that is anticipated. No new streets or changes to existing streets 

will be required.  

 

The proposed Plan and Zone Change for the building materials warehouse will 

contribute to maintaining the viability of the business at its long-time location in 

the downtown core. Freres Building Supply is a major retail business that 

contributes to the vitality of the downtown business district. Its long-term presence 

in the downtown core contrasts with other communities where similar businesses 

have relocated to outlying commercial areas, which draws customer traffic away 

from the historic city center. The proposed Plan and Zone Change will assure the 

continued presence of this major retailer where it contributes to the character of the 

central city.   

 

CRITERIA 

The Criteria for a quasi-judicial Comprehensive Plan Amendment are provided in 

the Land Use and Development Code (LUDC) Chapter 17.12.170, part 6.b.  

 

6. APPROVAL CRITERIA: In order to approve a Comprehensive Plan amendment, the 

following affirmative findings concerning the action must be able to be made by the 

decision authority. 

 

b. Quasi-judicial Amendments. 

1) The amendment is consistent with the goals and policies of the Comprehensive Plan, 

including any relevant area plans, and the statewide planning goals. In the case of a 

Comprehensive Plan Map amendment, the requested designation for the site shall be 

evaluated against relevant Comprehensive Plan policies and the decision authority shall 

find that the requested designation on balance is more supportive of the Comprehensive 

Plan as a whole than the old designation. 

 

The property is currently designated Residential and zoned HD. Parcel 6300 is 

vacant and provides no housing units. Parcel 6500 has one house. The 

Comprehensive Plan policies relevant to this application are addressed as follows:  

 



 

 
 

5 

 

 Housing Goals and Policies  
Statewide Planning Goal: To provide for the housing needs of citizens of the state. 

Buildable lands for residential use shall be inventoried and plans shall encourage the 
availability of adequate numbers of needed housing units at price ranges and rent 
levels which are commensurate with the financial capabilities of Oregon households 
and allow for flexibility of housing location, type and density. 
 
The housing needs of the city are presented in Chapter 6 of the Comprehensive Plan. A 

housing needs analysis is provided in that Chapter. A buildable lands analysis for 

residential land and other land use categories is provided in Chapter 8 of the 

Comprehensive Plan. 

 

The Housing Needs Projection is included in Chapter 6. Table 6-10 estimates the needed 

housing to the year 2030 based upon the population projection in Chapter 2 and the 

detailed information provided in Marion County’s coordinated population projections.  

As shown in that Table, at the time of the Projection there were 3,056 existing housing 

units in the city, of which 607 were multifamily units. A total of 4,337 housing units 

were projected to be needed by 2030, of which a total of 781would be multifamily units. 

Therefore, 1,281 total additional housing units would be needed by 2030, of which an 

additional 174 multifamily units (781 - 607) would be needed.  

 

The Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI) is provided in Chapter 8. As shown in Table 8-2 

there are 1,559 net acres in the City Limits. There are 1,203 net acres outside the city 

limits and within the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB), referred to as OCIB. The total net 

acreage within the urban growth area (city limits + OCIB) is 2,762 net acres.  

 

As shown in Table 8-3, as of February, 2011 there were 763 net acres of residential land 

within the city limits. Of that total 164 net acres were zoned MD and 36 net acres were 

zoned HD. There were 138 acres of buildable residential land in the city, of which 18 

acres were zoned MD and 4 were zoned HD. This proposal would rezone an acre of HD 

to CR, leaving 3 acres of buildable HD land. 

 

The MD and HD zones apply throughout the city (the Downtown Medium Density 

Residential Zone applies only within a defined part of the city). The predominant zone 



 

 
 

6 

 

for multifamily housing is MD. The maximum allowed residential density in the MD 

zone is 12 units/acre. There is no upper limit to the allowable density in the HD zone, 

although it requires a minimum of 13 units/acre. Using the maximum allowed density in 

the MD zone of 12 units/acre, which would require a greater amount of land to 

accommodate the projected future need for 174 additional multifamily units than the 

unlimited density of HD, the amount of land needed for the projected additional 174 

future units of multifamily housing would be 174 ÷ 12 = 14.5 acres. As shown in Table 

8-3 there were 18 acres of buildable MD zoned land, which exceeds the projected need.   

 

As described in Chapter 6, the City can be expected to add 1,281dwelling units during 

the planning period (to the year 2030). This will require approximately 460 acres of land. 

There are 138 net acres of buildable residential land within the city, and as shown in 

Table 8-4 there are 921 net acres of land designated for residential use within the UGB 

(OCIB) area, for a total of 1,059 acres designated for additional residential development 

within the overall urban growth area. This total results a surplus of (1059-460 =) 599 

acres over the projected need to 2030. It is reasonable to assume that at least 14.5 acres of 

the buildable residential land will be designated to fulfill the projected need for 

multifamily housing, and that some of it will be zoned HD. In any case the large amount 

of land that is already designated for future residential use provides more than adequate 

opportunity to provide additional land for the needed multifamily housing.  

 

Because the City has inventoried its buildable land for residential use, which 

accommodates the projected need for housing of all types as shown by the housing needs 

analysis, there is adequate land within the urban growth area to provide for future 

multifamily housing and Statewide Planning Goal 10: Housing, is satisfied. 

 

 Stayton City Goals and Policies  
GOAL  EXISTING AND FUTURE RESIDENTS WILL BE PROVIDED A CHOICE OF  
       HOUSING TYPES IN SAFE AND HEALTHFUL HOUSING  
 
There is a large supply of land in the urban area to provide for multiple types of 

housing opportunities for existing and future residents, in keeping with this Goal. 

 
 



 

 
 

7 

 

Policy HO-1  It is the Policy of the City to encourage development of housing that  
           meets the needs of all income groups of existing and future residents.  
    ACTION  The City shall assure that adequate supply of land in all  
            residential zones is available for development within the city.  
  
    ACTION  The City shall continue to allow manufactured homes on  
            individual lots with design standards similar to those for  
            site-built housing.  
 
    ACTION  The City shall continue to allow mobile home parks in the  
            Medium Density and High Density Residential Zones.  
 
This Policy states the City's intent to accommodate the variety of needed housing, 

which includes multifamily. The first Action item directs the City to maintain land 

in all residential zones, which include the multifamily zones. By doing so the 

opportunity will exist to satisfy the range of projected future housing needs. As 

shown in the Plan there is adequate land in the city and the OCIB to provide for all 

needed housing types. The residential zones provide for manufactured housing, in 

keeping with the second and third Action items pertaining to manufactured homes 

and mobile home parks. The large amount of land designated for future residential 

use will provide existing and future residents with a choice of housing types, in 

keeping with this Goal. 

 

Policy HO-2  It is the Policy of the City to assure that all occupied housing  
           units are safe, decent, and suitable for healthful habitation.  
    ACTION  The City shall enforce existing standards for health and safety in  
            housing.  
 
    ACTION  The City shall enact additional standards to assure the health  
            and safety of residents, as appropriate.  
 
This Policy and associated Actions pertain to the condition of housing units. This 

proposal involves only one existing housing unit (on TL 6500), which is in good 

condition. The proposal does not affect the condition of occupied housing units. 

 
Policy HO-3  It is the Policy of the City to allow the use of flexible lot sizes and  
           building placement, and density transfers to reduce development  
           costs, make efficient use of land, and promote housing variety  
           and affordability.  
    ACTION  The City shall continue to allow master planned developments in  
            all residential districts.  
  
    ACTION  The City shall continue to allow residential and mixed use  
            developments in the downtown area and mixed use  
            developments in the commercial zones.  



 

 
 

8 

 

 
This Policy and associated Actions pertain to residential development proposals. 

This application is not a residential development proposal. However, the stated 

intent to apply flexibility in density and land use can reduce the amount of land 

needed for future housing and reduce new housing development costs, which 

could make development of multifamily housing more attractive and feasible.  

 

Policy HO-4  It is the Policy of the City to encourage the maintenance,  
           conservation and enhancement of existing residential areas and  
           housing stock.  
    ACTION  The City shall continue to participate in the Valley Development  
            Initiatives cooperative effort for the management of its housing  
            rehabilitation program.  
 
    ACTION  The City shall pursue applications for additional funding for  
            housing rehabilitation and neighborhood stabilization efforts.  
  
    ACTION  The City shall work cooperatively with local non-profit  
            organizations to enable the construction of new affordable  
            housing.  
 
The site for the proposed warehouse is vacant and provides no existing housing 

stock. Because there is no housing stock it is not an opportunity for housing 

rehabilitation. There is one single-family house on parcel 6500. The subject 

parcels are bordered by commercial use on the east and south, and residential areas 

to the north and west. The current zoning of the parcels is unlike the adjoining 

residential land. The proposed zone change will not affect the maintenance, 

conservation or enhancement of housing in the nearby residential areas. The 

warehouse site is land-locked which is not an appropriate situation for 

high-density housing, which should have access that can accommodate traffic 

from high residential density. The traffic impact of the propose warehouse will be 

less than would result from high-density housing on the site. The Action items are 

directives to the City for seeking partnerships and funding for housing 

rehabilitation and construction. These Actions do not apply to this proposal. The 

use of the parcels will be specific and accessory to the existing FBS store. 

 
GOAL  NEW RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENTS WILL BE DESIGNED AND BUILT TO 
BECOME ATTRACTIVE NEIGHBORHOODS  
 
Policy HO-5  It is the Policy of the City to encourage alternative placement of  
           garages and storage buildings.  
    ACTION  The City shall amend the Land Use Code to include incentives for  
            the following design elements: locate garages behind the  
            primary building line of the house and side-loading garages, or  
            garages in the rear with alley access.  
 



 

 
 

9 

 

    ACTION  The City shall continue to require design review approval for all  
            multi-family developments and manufactured home parks.  
 
Policy HO-6  It is the Policy of the City to encourage the use of sustainable  
           development practices in residential site planning, building  
           materials, and environmental control systems, including use of  
           active and passive solar energy, energy efficient designs, and low  
           water use landscaping.  
 
    ACTION  The City shall amend the Land Use Code to protect existing solar  
            energy systems from shade.  
 
    ACTION  The City shall continue to encourage the use of underground  
            irrigation and native vegetation in landscaping. 
 
This Goal and Policies are specific to new residential development. The proposal 

does not involve new residential development and this Goal and Policies HO-5 and 

HO-6 do not apply. 

 

 Commercial Land Use  

As shown in Table 8-5 there are 107 net acres of designated commercial land 

within the UGB. Of this total 93 net acres are within the city limits and 14 net acres 

are within the OCIB area. 

 

As described in the Commercial Land Use section four major concentrations of 

commercial land use are identified, along with some scattered activity outside of 

those areas. The four major concentrations are the Downtown area; "Upper First 

Avenue"; the area around the intersection of Wilco Road, Ida Street and 

Washington; and the intersection of Wilco and Schaff Road.  

 

The Downtown area, which includes both sides of First Avenue to Third and from 

Washington to Water St., is recognized as the greatest concentration of 

commercial activity in the city. The FBS complex is within this recognized area. 

 

This Section identified 21 acres of vacant developable land for commercial use in 

the city. However, it also recognizes that in recent years a lack of medium sized 

vacant lots available for commercial uses was noted by merchants and developers.  



 

 
 

10 

 

Also, that more intensive commercial use of the downtown business district is 

expected over time, and that the continued conversion of houses and residential 

lots in the commercial zones will allow for new business locations. Commercial 

development and visual improvements may also have the effect of attracting new 

types of residential development to downtown, in accordance with the Downtown 

Revitalization Plan. 

 

The FBS proposal to add a warehouse to its existing operation is consistent with 

this expectation and to maintaining the downtown area as a center of commercial 

activity. There is no vacant commercial land adjacent to its location. The only 

adjacent vacant land is parcel 6300. Rezoning that parcel to allow the proposed 

storage warehouse will help to maintain the business at this location. No existing 

multifamily housing will be lost, and as the housing analysis shows, there is a 

surplus of land within the urban growth area to provide for the long-term future 

housing needs of the community. For these reasons the proposed Plan and zone 

change will help to maintain the vitality of the downtown commercial district 

without detracting from the ability to provide adequate housing with the 

community. 

 

  Land Use Goals and Policies 

Statewide Planning Goals: To establish a land use planning process and 
policy framework as a basis for all decision and actions related to use of 
land and to assure an adequate factual base for such decisions and 
actions. City … plans and actions related to land use shall be consistent with the 
comprehensives plans of cities and counties and regional plans. To provide for an 

orderly and efficient transition from rural to urban land use, to accommodate 
urban population and urban employment inside urban growth boundaries, to 

ensure efficient use of land and to provide for livable communities. Urban growth 
boundaries shall be established and maintained by cities, counties, and regional 
government to provide land for urban development needs, and to identify and 
separate urban and urbanizeable land from rural land. 
 

The first (bold) part of this Statewide Goal statement tracks Statewide Planning 

Goal 2 - Land Use Planning. The City has met this Goal by adopting a 

Comprehensive Plan and implementing ordinances in conformance with the 



 

 
 

11 

 

requirements of the Statewide Goals. The second (bold) part of this statement 

tracks Statewide Planning Goal 14 - Urbanization. The City has adopted an Urban 

Growth Boundary that separates urban and urbanizeable land from rural land. The 

land within the UGB provides for the long-term buildable land needs of the city. 

The FBS proposal is inside the city and does not affect the UGB. 

 

 Stayton City Goals and Policies  

GOAL  PROVIDE FOR A LAND USE REGULATION PROCESS THAT PROMOTES A 
LIVABLE COMMUNITY AND PROVIDES FOR EXPEDITIOUS REVIEW OF 
DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS 
 

The City has adopted land use regulations that provide for the various land uses 

within the city, and which specify a review process for development proposals. 

This application follows the provisions and requirements of the land use review 

process, and by doing so it conforms to this Goal. 

 Policy LU-1 It is the Policy of the City to adopt a zoning map consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan Map.  
   ACTION The City shall adopt an amended Official Zoning Map consistent 
with the Comprehensive Plan Map  
 
   ACTION Zoning district boundaries shall follow property lines and 
rights-of-way centerlines as much as practicable.  
 
The City has adopted a zoning map that is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 

map, in conformance with this Policy. 

 
Policy LU-2 It is the Policy of the City that development regulations include clear 
and objective standards for the review of development proposals or variances.  
   ACTION The City shall adopt a Land Use and Development Code that 
minimizes the number of subjective standards. 
 
The City has adopted a Land Use and Development Code that sets forth criteria 

that provide standards for review of development proposals, in satisfaction of this 

Policy. The adopted review standards are addressed in this application.  

 
Policy LU-3 It is the Policy of the City that the availability and quality of public 
services shall be a criteria for approval of development proposals. 
   ACTION The City shall adopt a Land Use and Development Code that 
requires the provision of adequate public facilities and services for new 
development. 
 
The criteria that apply to this proposal include the availability of public facilities 



 

 
 

12 

 

and services. The facilities and services required for the proposed storage 

warehouse are available at appropriate levels and quality, which satisfies this 

Policy. 

 
Policy LU-4 It is the Policy of the City that development regulations shall provide 
for residential zones at several densities and for a variety of commercial and 
industrial zones.  
   ACTION The City shall adopt a Land Use and Development Code and Official 
Zoning Map in which the Comprehensive Plan designation of residential is 
divided into at least three zoning districts: a low density zone providing for  
detached single family dwellings; a medium density zone providing for a mix of 
single family, duplex and triplex development; and a high density zone for 
multifamily developments. 
   
   ACTION The City shall adopt a Land Use and Development Code and Official 
Zoning Map in which the Comprehensive Plan designation of commercial is 
divided into at least three zoning districts: zone primarily for retail businesses; a  
 
zone for general business activity; and a zone near the interchanges with 
Highway 22 primarily for businesses oriented towards the travelling public.   
   
   ACTION The City shall adopt a Land Use and Development Code and Official 
Zoning Map in which the Comprehensive Plan designation of industrial is 
divided into at least three zoning districts: a zone primarily for manufacturing, 
warehousing and similar industries; a zone that allows limited commercial uses; 
and a zone designated for agricultural-related industries.  
 
   ACTION The City shall adopt a Land Use and Development Code and Official 
Zoning Map in which the Comprehensive Plan designation of downtown is 
divided into at least three zoning districts: a zone along 3rd Ave where 
commercial uses are required on the ground level; a commercial zone providing 
for a mix of commercial and residential development that allows automobile 
oriented uses; and a residential zone that allows a mix of residential and 
commercial uses.  
 

   ACTION The City shall adopt a Land Use and Development Code and Official 
Zoning Map in which the Comprehensive Plan designation of public/semi-public 
for the location of parks, schools, churches, hospitals, and similar uses.  
 
The City has adopted a Land Use and Development Code and Official Zoning Map 

that provide for the variety of zoning districts in each of the identified categories 

for residential, commercial, industrial, and downtown uses. The adoption of these 

development regulations and map satisfies this Policy.   

 



 

 
 

13 

 

Policy LU-5 It is the Policy of the City that master planned developments shall be 
allowed in all zones in order to encourage better use of large or unique sites.  
   ACTION The City shall continue the master planned development provisions 
of the Land Use and Development Code that provide for flexibility of design and 
layout of subdivisions in exchange for the provision of open space.  
 
This Policy is a directive that requires the City to allow master planned 

developments. This application does not propose a master planned development 

and in this case this Policy does not apply. 

 
Policy LU-6 It is the Policy of the City that the central business area of Stayton 
shall continue to be the primary retail business area of the community.  
   ACTION The City shall limit commercial zones to those areas designated as 
commercial on the Comprehensive Plan Map, discouraging strip-type 
development.  
 
   ACTION A pedestrian-oriented atmosphere in the downtown area shall be 
provided through requirements for commercial uses that include curb cuts, 
sidewalks and street hardware for pedestrian and the disabled.  
 
The FBS operation is part of the downtown central business area, where it has been 

one of the major retail anchors since it was established in 1946. The proposed 

storage warehouse is needed to help sustain the business as part of the central 

business area. The warehouse site is proposed to be designated Commercial on the 

Comprehensive Plan map, and zoned CR which is consistent with that Plan map 

designation. The site is adjacent to the existing FBS retail store, and it will be part 

of the cluster of FBS properties that make up this retail business operation. The 

warehouse site is not on the street frontage which avoids creating the appearance 

of strip-type development. For these reasons the proposal is consistent with this 

Policy to maintain the central business area as the primary retail business area of 

the community and to discourage strip-type development.   

 
Policy LU-7 It is the Policy of the City to encourage an industrial park-like 
atmosphere along Wilco Road.  
 
   ACTION The City shall maintain the requirements for landscaping and 
architectural controls in the areas designated as industrial. 
 

The FBS site is not along Wilco Road and it is not designated as industrial , and 

this Policy does not apply. 

 

 

 



 

 
 

14 

 

CHAPTER 7 ECONOMY 

Economic Goals and Policies  

Statewide Planning Goal: To provide adequate opportunities throughout the state 
for a variety of economic activities vital to the health, welfare, and prosperity of 

Oregon's citizens. Comprehensive plans and policies shall contribute to a stable 
and healthy economy in all regions of the state. Such plans shall be based on 
inventories of areas suitable for increased economic growth and activity after 
taking into consideration the health of the current economic base; materials 
and energy availability and cost; labor market factors; educational and technical 
training programs; availability of key public facilities; necessary support 
facilities; current market forces; location relative to markets; availability of 
renewable and non-renewable resources; availability of land; and pollution 
control requirements. 
 

This Goal tracks Statewide Planning Goal 9 - Economic Development. The City 

has complied with the requirements of this Goal by identifying the various types of 

economic activity within the community and providing for them in the Code 

through Comprehensive Plan designations with corresponding zoning; by creating 

an inventory of those activities and the buildable lands that are designated for their 

growth, and by providing for the availability of public facilities and services. By 

adopting these measures in the Comprehensive Plan and Code the City is in 

conformance with the Economic Development Goal.  

 

 Stayton City Goals and Policies  

GOAL  PROVIDE FOR THE FUTURE COMMERCIAL, INDUSTRIAL AND SOCIAL 
NEEDS OF THE COMMUNITY WITH A BALANCED MIX OF ECONOMIC ACTIVITY  
 

Policy EC-1 It is the Policy of the City to maintain downtown Stayton as an area 
for retail shops, restaurants, entertainment, government offices, and 
professional offices.  
   ACTION The City shall continue to allow a mix of commercial uses in the 
downtown area.  
    
   ACTION The City shall consider all available tools to finance infrastructure 
improvements and business attraction and promotion.  
 

The FBS application is consistent with this Goal and its Policies. The business 

consists of a building supply retail store and its support facilities for the storage 

and display of the materials and goods it provides. Because these include 



 

 
 

15 

 

large-sized and bulk materials such as lumber, siding, roofing, fencing, pipes, etc., 

the operation by necessity requires substantial indoor and outdoor storage space 

which is greater than the retail store itself. The store has been at its downtown 

location since 1946, which predates many of the other businesses in the downtown 

area. The proposed storage warehouse is necessary to provide for the continued 

long-term operation of the business. There is no vacant commercial property 

contiguous to the existing business. By maintaining the operation at this location 

the proposal will help to maintain downtown Stayton as the retail center of the 

community.  

 

Policy EC-2 It is the Policy of the City to enhance and protect the vitality of 
Stayton’s existing commercial and service sector while maintaining a level of 
retail growth that is proportional to the size of the City and encouraging the 
diversification of goods and services available to residents.  
  ACTION The City shall continue to limit commercial development in the IC 
zone to convenience facilities and heavy commercial uses.  
 
  ACTION The City shall designate areas outside of the city limits for future 
commercial growth, but not consider their annexation and development until 
commercial areas within the city limits are fully utilized.  
 
The addition of the subject property to the commercial sector will help to protect 

the vitality of the City's commercial economy by maintaining a long-standing 

retail business in the central business area. The FBS operation is proportional to 

the size of the City and has undergone gradual and incremental expansion as the 

City has grown. This proposal is another step in maintaining local retail services in 

the community. The proposal does not involve the IC zone, or affect areas outside 

the city limits. 

 

Policy EC-3 It is the Policy of the City to limit the size of retail stores and malls to 
maintain a competitive diversity in Stayton’s retail economy, to lessen the 
impact on the city’s air quality and adjacent land uses. 
  ACTION The City shall increase the limit on the size of shopping center malls 
to 100,000 square feet. 
 
  ACTION The City shall increase the limit on the size of retail stores to 45,000 
square feet.  
 
  ACTION The City shall continue to limit two or more malls from being 
contiguous to one another.  
 

The FBS business is a single independent retail operation. It is not part of a 

multi-tenant mall, and the proposal to add a storage warehouse does not create a 

shopping center mall. By their nature the products and services offered by the  

building supply business requires large amount of storage space for bulk materials. 



 

 
 

16 

 

The size of the retail store is in keeping with the limits of this policy. Maintaining 

the business in the city helps to reduce the flow of local dollars to larger-scale 

national retailers located outside of the city. These factors are consistent with the 

Policy directive to maintain competitive diversity in the city's retail economy. 

 
Policy EC-4 It is the Policy of the City to discourage commercial development at 
Highway 22.  
  ACTION The City shall continue the Interchange Development Zone near the 
two Highway 22 interchanges to limit commercial uses to traveler-oriented.  
 
The subject  property is not at Highway 22. It is at the south end of the downtown 

1st Street retail core, which is the opposite end of the City from Highway 22. The 

proposal does not request or involve the ID zone.  
 
Policy EC-5 It is the Policy of the City to promote the development of the 
industrial park area.  
  ACTION The City shall continue to the Oregon Enterprise Zone designation for 
the industrial area.  
 
  ACTION The City shall pursue all available opportunities for funding 
infrastructure improvements to serve the industrial zones.  
 
  ACTION The City shall seek state and federal programs and grants for 
economic development to improve the economy of the area. 
 

The property is not in the industrial park and is not proposed for industrial use or 

an industrial zone, and this policy does not apply. 

 

  Summary 

Because there is a surplus of land in the overall urban growth area to provide for 

the projected housing needs of the community, and because the proposal will serve 

to sustain and maintain a major retail business in the central business district, and 

because there is no other vacant commercial zoned property adjacent to the 

existing use to provide for the proposed use, the proposal satisfies the applicable 

Goals and Policies of the Comprehensive Plan and criteria b.1) is satisfied. 

 
2) The current Comprehensive Plan does not provide adequate areas in appropriate 

locations for uses allowed in the proposed land use designation and the addition of this 

property to the inventory of lands so designated is consistent with projected needs for 

such lands in the Comprehensive Plan. 

 



 

 
 

17 

 

The proposal is site-specific to the existing FBS store. The purpose of the Plan 

Amendment is to provide for a new storage warehouse contiguous to the existing 

facilities that make up the FBS retail cluster. A distant, off-site location on 

commercial land in another part of the city would not fulfill the functional need 

that exists at this location. There is no other contiguous undeveloped property that 

is zoned for commercial use along the west side of the 1st Ave. commercial 

corridor. The Comp Plan encourages maintenance of retail activity in the central 

business area, and the purpose of this proposal is consistent with that directive. In 

this case, the current Comprehensive Plan does not provide an adequate area at an 

appropriate location for the proposed storage warehouse, and the subject  

property will be a minor addition to the commercial inventory that is appropriate to 

maintain a major retail business in the city's central business area.   

 

3) Compliance is demonstrated with the statewide land use goals that apply to the subject 

properties or to the proposed land use designation. If the proposed designation on the 

subject property requires an exception to the Goals, the applicable criteria in the LCDC 

Administrative Rules for the type of exception needed shall also apply. 

 
An exception to the Statewide Goals is not required. The Statewide Planning 

Goals that apply the proposal are addressed as follows: 

   

GOAL 1 CITIZEN INVOLVEMENT 

The City’s land use review process meets the requirements of this Goal for citizen 

involvement in the land use process. Notice of the proposal will be provided to 

surrounding property owners within the notification area, published in the 

newspaper, and posted on the property. Public hearings to consider the request will 

be held by the Planning Commission and City Council. Through the notice and 

public hearing process all interested parties are afforded the opportunity to review 

and comment on the application, and participate in the decision. These procedures 

satisfy the requirements of this Goal.   

 

GOAL 2 LAND USE PLANNING 

The Stayton Comprehensive Plan is acknowledged to be in compliance with the 

Statewide Planning Goals. The City has complied with the Goal requirements for 

establishing and maintaining a land use planning process. The Plan provides goals, 

policies and procedures for reviewing and evaluating land use requests. The 

proposal will be reviewed with regards to the Plan's applicable goals and policies, 

and the criteria for a Quasi-Judicial Comprehensive Plan Map Amendment and a  

 



 

 
 

18 

 

Zone Change. The City’s adopted land use planning process provides a framework 

for evaluating the proposal. These factors satisfy the requirements of this Goal.  

 

GOAL 5 OPEN SPACES, SCENIC AND HISTORIC AREAS, AND NATURAL 

RESOURCES 

The subject property is not designated as open space, as a scenic or historic area, or 

as any other type of natural, scenic, historic or cultural resource area. No resources 

requiring consideration by this Goal are indicated. 

   

GOAL 6 - AIR, WATER and LAND RESOURCES QUALITY 

The proposal is for a new storage warehouse for use as part of the existing building 

supply business. This will be a low-impact activity with regards to air, water and 

land resources quality. The use does not involve processing, fabrication or 

manufacturing activities that would generate emissions to the air, land or water. 

There are no water resources on the site. The small volume of traffic associated 

with the use will not have a significant effect on the quality of the air. The building 

will be typical of other buildings in commercial areas of the city. There are no 

specific topographic features on the property that need to be considered, and 

development for the proposed use will be typical of development on urban land. 

Public services and facilities are available to support the proposed use, including  

water and waste water disposal; but only electric power service is anticipated. 

There will be no withdrawal of groundwater or discharges of waste water into a 

water body or the subsurface. The availability of public utility services, if needed, 

will protect the quality of water and land resources. Because its impact will be low 

the proposed Plan change will maintain and protect the quality of the air, water and 

land resources at this location.    

 

 GOAL 7 - AREAS SUBJECT TO NATURAL DISASTERS AND HAZARDS 

No natural hazards that are specific or unique to the site have been identified. The 

property is not identified as subject to a specific natural disaster or hazard.  

 

GOAL 8 - RECREATIONAL NEEDS  

The site is not designated for recreational use and this Goal does not apply. 

 

GOAL 9 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT  

The subject property is currently designated Residential on the Plan Map. The 

proposal is to change the designation to Commercial to allow an additional storage 

warehouse to support the FBS operation. This will help to sustain a local business, 

and help to maintain the downtown business direct as the main commercial area in 

the city, which is consistent with the economic development policies of the city.  

These factors are consistent with this Goal.  

 

GOAL 10 - HOUSING  

The proposed warehouse site (Tax Lot 6300) is currently designated residential 

and commercial. The residential part is approx. .62 acre (27,000 squ. ft.). The HD 

zone minimum density would require 8 housing units on the property. Together 

with parcel 6500, .37 acre, a total of an acre is proposed to be redesignated, which 



 

 
 

19 

 

would require a minimum of 13 residential units. The warehouse site is vacant and 

currently provides no housing units, so no existing housing will be lost from that 

parcel as a result of its redesignation. There is a single-family home on parcel 

6500, which is not high density housing. As discussed previously there are 138 

acres of buildable residential land in the city, and 921 acres designated for 

residential use in the OCIB. The plan projects a future need for 460 acres, leaving 

a surplus of 599 acres within the overall urban area that is already designated for 

residential use. The two parcels that are the subject property total an acre. The 

City's inventory of buildable and future residential land is more than adequate to 

provide for projected housing needs of all types in the community, including 

multifamily housing.  

 

GOAL 11 - PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICES 

The level of public facilities and services necessary for a storage warehouse is  

low. Public services including water supply, waste water disposal, storm drainage, 

streets, fire and police protection, electricity, telephone and electronic 

communication, and solid waste disposal, are available and can be provided to the 

site at levels that will be adequate for the proposed use. Water and sewer lines are 

located in W. Water St. and a stormwater line is in 1st. Avenue. Fire and police 

services are provided by the City. All other utility services are available at this 

location. The public services available to the site conforms to the requirements of 

this Goal. 

 

GOAL 12 - TRANSPORTATION  

The transportation impact of the proposal has been evaluated by DKS Associates, 

Inc. Traffic Engineers, and presented in a report August 5, 2020. The report 

addresses the State Planning Goal 12 Transportation Planning Rule (TPR), OAR 

660-012-0060. The report is included as a part of this application.  

 

Using the "reasonable worst-case" analysis methodology required by the TPR, the 

DKS report calculates that high-density residential use as allowed in the existing 

HD zone for the two parcels could generate up to 523 daily trips. The uses allowed 

in the CR zone that would generate the highest volume of traffic (not the proposed 

warehouse) would result in 783 daily trips, or an increase of 260 daily trips over 

HD zoning. This increase is below the estimated threshold of 400 daily trips for a 

"significant effect" on the transportation system.  

 

However, the proposal is to use the site for storage of building materials as part of 

the FBS operation. No expansion of the retail store is planned, and trip generation 

data for building materials storage alone is not available. Using the trip generation 

data that applies to a building materials store, which includes both storage and 

retail sales, the report estimates the proposal will generate a total of 275 daily trips. 

Since the store already exists and no expansion is proposed, this figure is higher 

than what would actually be expected. In any case, the report concludes that even 

with an increase of 275 daily trips the proposal will not significantly impact or 

degrade the transportation system, and the requirements of the TPR are satisfied. 

 



 

 
 

20 

 

GOAL 13 - ENERGY CONSERVATION 

The new storage building will be required to meet the building code standards for 

energy efficiency at the time it is built, which will serve to conserve energy. 

 

GOAL 14 - URBANIZATION 

The subject property is within the city. All necessary public services and facilities 

can be made available to the site. The site is contiguous to the existing FBS cluster. 

The location of the site in relation to the existing store will help to maintain a 

compact and efficient urban area. The proposal does not affect the Urban Growth 

Boundary.   

 

 

Based on the facts and reasons presented, the proposed change in the 

Comprehensive Plan land use designation is consistent with the applicable 

Statewide land use goals, and this criterion is satisfied. 

 

4) Existing or anticipated transportation facilities are adequate for uses permitted under 

the proposed designation and the proposed amendment is in conformance with the 

Oregon Transportation Planning Rule (OAR 660-012-0060). 

 

The findings provided to address Statewide Goal 12 also apply here. In summary, 

the DKS traffic impact analysis (TPR report) provided with this application to 

address OAR 660-012-0060 shows that the daily volume of traffic that can be 

expected from the proposed use under the proposed designation will not have a 

significant impact on the transportation system. No changes to the transportation 

system are required or recommended. The report shows that the proposed 

amendment is in conformance with the TPR. Because the existing transportation 

facilities are adequate to support the proposed use, and the amendment conforms 

to the TPR, this criterion is satisfied. 

 

5) The current Comprehensive Plan Map provides more than the projected need for lands 

in the existing land use designation. 

 

The existing Comp Plan land use designation for the subject site is Residential. 

The Comp Plan map designates 1059 acres for Residential use within the overall 

urban area. The Plan projects that 460 acres will be needed for the projected 

housing needs of the city to 2030. The total acreage that is designed Residential by 



 

 
 

21 

 

the Plan Map represents a surplus of 599 acres of Residential land. Therefore, the  

current Plan Map provides more than the projected need for land in the existing 

Residential designation, which satisfies this criterion. 

 

6) Public facilities and services necessary to support uses allowed in the proposed 

designation are available or are likely to be available in the near future. 

 

The public facilities and services that are necessary to support the use in the 

proposed designation are available and can be provided. These include City water, 

sewer and stormwater utilities, fire and police protection, and power and 

communications services. The availability of the necessary public facilities and 

services satisfies this criterion. 

 

7) Uses allowed in the proposed designation will not significantly adversely affect existing 

or planned uses on adjacent lands. 

 

The lands to the east and south of the site are zoned CR, and the existing or 

planned uses on those lands are commercial. The lands to the north are zoned MD. 

The existing uses are single family residential, and the planned uses include 

multifamily residential. The lands to the west are zoned LD, and the existing and 

planned uses are single family residential.   

 

The current zoning on the subject property is HD. The minimum density required 

in the HD zone is greater than the maximum density allowed in either LD and MD, 

and there is no maximum density limit. The maximum density in HD is unlimited. 

As a result a high-density residential project on this interior property could have a 

significant adverse impact on the adjacent lower-density neighborhoods. 

Similarly, certain uses allowed in the proposed commercial designation such as a 

fast-food drive-through restaurant could have an adverse impact on the adjacent 

residential uses; although that type of intensive commercial use is highly unlikely 

because the property is not situated for that type of use due to its lack of vehicular 

access and visibility. The proposal is for a storage warehouse as part of the 

adjacent building materials supply business. The storage warehouse will not be 



 

 
 

22 

 

open to retail customer traffic, and it will generate only low volumes of traffic  

mainly from the delivery and shipping of building materials. Activity will occur 

mainly within the enclosed building space. The impacts of the use will primarily 

be vehicle noise as trucks deliver materials, and pick them up for transport to job 

sites, and noise from a forklift unloading, stocking, and loading materials. These 

impacts are similar to other types of retail activities, and will occur during daily 

business hours. The impacts to adjacent properties will generally be low, and will 

not be significantly adverse to the existing and planned uses on adjacent lands.  

 

Based on the affirmative findings provided the proposal meets the criteria for a 

quasi-judicial Comprehensive Plan Amendment.  

 

 Zoning Map Amendments 

The Criteria for a quasi-judicial Zoning Map Amendment are provided in Land 

Use and Development Code (LUDC) Chapter 17.12.180, part 6.b. The criteria are 

addressed as follows: 

 

6. APPROVAL CRITERIA. In order to approve an Official Zoning Map amendment, the 

following affirmative findings concerning the action must be able to be made by the 

decision authority. 

 

b. Quasi-judicial Amendments. 

1) The proposed zone is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan map designation for the 

subject property unless a Comprehensive Plan Map amendment has also been applied 

for and is otherwise compatible with applicable provisions of the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

The proposed Zoning Map Amendment from HD to CR is not consistent with the 

current Plan Map designation of Residential. An amendment to change the Plan 

Map designation to Commercial has been applied for as a part of this application. 

The Plan Map amendment has been reviewed according to the applicable criteria, 

and is compatible with the applicable provisions of the Comp Plan, as shown in the 

review and analysis provided in this report. 

 

 



 

 
 

23 

 

2) Existing or anticipated services (water, sanitary sewers, storm sewers, schools, police 

and fire protection) can accommodate potential development in the subject area without 

adverse impact on the affected service area. 

 

Public facilities and services are available to accommodate the proposed use and  

can be provided without adverse impact on the service area. These include City 

water, sewer and stormwater utilities, fire and police protection, and power and 

communications services. Only electric power service is anticipated to be utilized. 

The proposed warehouse will not affect schools. The availability of the necessary 

facilities and services satisfies this criterion. 

 

3) Existing or anticipated transportation facilities are adequate for uses permitted under 

the proposed zone designation and the proposed amendment is in conformance with the 

Oregon Transportation Planning Rule (OAR 660-012-0060). 

 

The proposed use will be served primarily by 1st Avenue and W. Water St. The 

traffic impact of the proposed use has been evaluated in a report by DKS 

Associates, Traffic Engineers. The DKS report is a part of this application, and it 

addresses the Oregon Transportation Planning Rule. The report shows that the 

existing transportation facilities are adequate for the proposed use and that it will 

not have a significant adverse impact on those facilities. The traffic analysis shows 

that the proposed amendment is in conformance with the TPR. 

 

4) The purpose of the proposed zoning district satisfies the goals and policies of the 

Comprehensive Plan.  

 

The relationship of the proposed zoning district to the applicable goals and policies 

of the Comprehensive Plan have been reviewed and addressed above. The 

information and conclusions in that review also apply here. Based on that review 

the purpose of the zoning district is shown to satisfy the goals and policies of the 

Comprehensive Plan. 

 

5) Balance is maintained in the supply of vacant land in the zones affected by the zone 

change to meet the demand for projected development in the Comprehensive Plan. 



 

 
 

24 

 

Vacant land in the proposed zone is not adequate in size, configuration or other 

characteristics to support the proposed use or development. A Zone Map Amendment 

shall not eliminate all available vacant land from any zoning designation. 

 

The zones affected by the zone change are HD and CR. The proposal is for a 

site-specific addition to the existing FBS business location. The purpose of the 

zone change cannot be fulfilled by an off-site location. There is no vacant CR  

land adjacent to the existing business. The proposal will add one acre to the 

commercial land inventory, for this specific purpose. The lands designated for 

commercial use in other parts of the community will not be affected, and the zone 

change to CR will not alter the balance of vacant commercial land in the 

community. The proposal will reduce the supply of HD residential land by one 

acre but there are 138 acres of buildable residential land in the city, and another 

921 acres designated for Residential use within the OCIB. Because of the specific 

location of the site, and the inventory of buildable land for additional residential 

use within the city and the overall urban area, the effect of the zone change on the 

supply of vacant residential land will be minimal and not consequential. 

Considering these factors and circumstances the Zone Map Amendment will not 

eliminate all available vacant land from either zone designation, and balance will 

be maintained in the zones affected by the zone change to meet the demand for 

expected development in the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

6) The proposed zone amendment satisfies applicable provisions of Oregon 

Administrative Rules. 

 

The Oregon Administrative Rules embodied in the Comprehensive Plan Goals and 

Policies and the Statewide Planning Goals have been addressed and satisfied by 

the proposal, as shown in this report, above. 

 

7) The physical characteristics of the property proposed for rezoning are appropriate for 

the proposed zone and the potential uses allowed by the proposed zone will not have an 

adverse impact on the surrounding land uses.  

 

The subject property is flat and level. No physical characteristics, natural resources  



 

 
 

25 

 

 

or hazards are identified that create obstacles or prevent its use in the proposed 

zone or for the proposed use.  

 

Certain uses allowed in the proposed CR zone, such as traffic intensive service 

uses, could have an adverse impact on the surrounding residential uses, but the 

proposal is specifically for a building materials storage warehouse. Because the 

property is an internal site with no street frontage and little exposure to the public 

street its suitability for other types of commercial uses, such as those that require 

high volumes of customer access, is very limited and highly unlikely. This 

proposal is specifically for a storage warehouse as part of the existing building 

materials supply business. The storage warehouse will not be open to retail 

customer traffic, and will itself generate low volumes of traffic consisting mainly 

of supply deliveries and pick-up. Activity will occur mainly within the building, 

during normal business hours. These functional characteristics of the use will 

reduce impacts on existing and planned uses on adjacent lands and it will not have 

an adverse impact on surrounding uses.  

 

Summary 

The proposed Zone Change is consistent with the applicable Comprehensive Plan 

Goals and Policies and State Administrative Rules. The physical characteristics of 

the site are appropriate for the proposed zone and the use. Required public 

facilities and services are available to serve the site as may be needed. The use will 

not have a significant adverse affect on the transportation system, and it will be 

compatible with the surrounding uses. For these reasons the criteria for a zone map 

amendment are satisfied. 

  

 



 

 

 
 

MEMORANDUM  

DATE:  August 5, 2020 

TO:  Dan Goodman | Freres Building Supply 

FROM:  Lacy Brown, Ph.D., P.E. | DKS Associates 
Chase Hildner | DKS Associates 

SUBJECT:  Freres Building Supply Rezone Transportation Planning Rule 
Analysis 

Project #P20102-000 
 

This memorandum presents the findings of an evaluation of potential traffic impacts associated 
with a proposed zone change for two parcels (Tax Lot 6300 and 6500, totaling 1.03 acres) in 
Stayton, Oregon. The lots are currently both zoned as High Density Residential (HD) and the 
applicant desires to change the zoning to Commercial Retail (CR) to allow for the expansion of 
warehouse and storage space for Freres Building Supply. The two lots will not be combined. The 
proposed zone change must be in accordance with Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 660-012-
0060, the Transportation Planning Rule (TPR). The intent of the TPR (OAR 660-12-0060) is to 
ensure that future land use and traffic growth is consistent with transportation system planning 
and does not create a significant effect on the surrounding transportation system beyond currently 
allowed uses. The definition of a significant effect varies by jurisdiction and no such definition is 
provided in the City of Stayton code. According to the Oregon Highway Plan (OHP), a net increase 
of 400 daily trips qualifies as a significant effect. While the OHP is not applicable to city streets, it 
provides a reasonable estimate of a significant effect for TPR analysis purposes.  

This memorandum documents the expected trip generation of the reasonable worst-case 
development potential under existing and proposed zoning, and whether the proposed zone change 
will create a significant effect on the transportation system.  

 

 

 

 

 

 



 STAYTON FBS TRANSPORTATION PLANNING RULE ANALYSIS • AUGUST 5, 2020 2 

 

EXISTING ZONING (HD) TRIP GENERATION 

Under the current High Density Residential (HD) zoning, residential land uses such as multi-family 
housing is allowed as well as family day care facilities.1 A summary of the trip generation rates for 
the different allowable land uses permitted under the existing HD zoning is presented in Table 1.2 

TABLE 1: TRIP GENERATION RATES FOR SELECTED ALLOWED LAND USES UNDER HD ZONING 

a DU = Dwelling Unit 
b KSF = Thousand Square Feet  
 

The two lots are currently occupied by single family homes. In accordance with Stayton Land Use 
and Development code, a 60% lot coverage  was assumed for multi-family developments.  For 
proposed retail or commercial development, a 30% lot coverage was assumed. As a result, the 
maximum building footprint that could be developed on Tax Lot 6300 is 10,400 square feet and 
Tax Lot 6500 is 4,800 square feet.3 

For the reasonable worst-case development under existing zoning, multifamily housing was 
assumed for both Tax Lots, 6300 and 6500. There is no maximum unit density listed for High 
Density Residential zoning. It was assumed that the multi-family buildings could be two-story, 
which would double the building square footage possible with a 60% lot coverage. An average 
apartment size of 750 square feet was assumed. Table 2 on the following shows the reasonable 
worst-case trip generation for existing HD zoning. As shown, the Tax Lot 6300 parcel could 
generate up to 375 daily trips and the Tax Lot 6500 parcel could generate up to 148 daily trips. 

  

 

1 A list of permitted land uses for HD zoning can be found in the Stayton Land Use and Development Code, 

Chapter 17.16. 

2 Trip generation estimates calculated using average rates from ITE Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition 

3 Stayton Land Use and Development Code, Table 17.20.190.2.a. 

LAND USE (ITE CODE) UNITS 

WEEKDAY TRIP GENERATION RATES 

DAILY AM PEAK 
HOUR 

PM PEAK 
HOUR 

MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING (LOW RISE) (220) DUa 7.32 0.46 0.56 

DAY CARE FACILITY (565) KSFb 47.62 11.00 11.12 



 STAYTON FBS TRANSPORTATION PLANNING RULE ANALYSIS • AUGUST 5, 2020 3 

 

TABLE 2: REASONABLE WORST-CASE LAND USE AND TRIP GENERATION FOR EXISTING HD 
ZONING 

a DU = Dwelling Unit 

PROPOSED ZONING (CR) TRIP GENERATION 

Under the proposed Commercial Retail (CR) zoning, a variety of permitted land uses could be 
developed on the property.4 For the purposes of identifying the reasonable worst case trip 
generation for the proposed CR zoning, only the highest trip generation land uses are shown: 

• Small Office Building 

• Day Care Center 

• Recreational Community Center 

• Shopping Center 

• High Turnover (sit down) Restaurant 

• Building Materials and Lumber Store 

A summary of the trip generation rates for different land uses permitted under the proposed CR 
zoning are presented in Table 3 on the following page.5  

 

4 A list of permitted land uses for CR zoning can be found in the Stayton Land Use and Development Code, 

Chapter 17.16. 

5 Trip generation estimates calculated using average rates from ITE Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition 

LAND USE  
(ITE CODE) SIZE 

WEEKDAY TRIP GENERATION 

DAILY AM PEAK 
HOUR 

PM PEAK 
HOUR 

TAX LOT 6300     

MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING (LOW RISE) 
(220) 

55 DUa 375 27 35 

 Total 375 27 35 

TAX LOT 6500     

MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING (LOW RISE) 
(220) 

25 DUa 148 13 17 

 Total 148 13 17 



 STAYTON FBS TRANSPORTATION PLANNING RULE ANALYSIS • AUGUST 5, 2020 4 

 

TABLE 3: TRIP GENERATION RATES FOR SELECTED ALLOWED LAND USES UNDER CR ZONING 

a KSF = 1,000 square-feet 

Reasonable assumptions for land use are limited by the relatively small parcel sizes, surrounding 
development types, and limited access and street frontage for Tax Lot 6300. The reasonable worst-
case development potential is a small office building and a day care center on Tax Lot 6300 and a 
small restaurant on Tax Lot 6500. Table 4 on the following page summarizes the trip generation 
estimates for these land uses. 

  

LAND USE (ITE CODE) UNITS 

WEEKDAY TRIP GENERATION RATES 

DAILY AM PEAK 
HOUR 

PM PEAK 
HOUR 

SMALL OFFICE BUILDING (712) KSFa 16.19 1.92 2.45 

DAY CARE CENTER (565) KSFa 47.62 11.00 11.12 

RECREATIONAL COMMUNITY CENTER (495) KSFa 28.82 1.76 2.31 

SHOPPING CENTER (820) KSFa 37.75 0.94 3.81 

HIGH TURNOVER (SIT DOWN) RESTAURANT 
(932) 

KSFa 112.18 9.94 9.77 

BUILING MATERIALS AND LUMBER STORE 
(812) 

KSFa 18.05 1.57 2.06 



 STAYTON FBS TRANSPORTATION PLANNING RULE ANALYSIS • AUGUST 5, 2020 5 

 

TABLE 4: REASONABLE WORST-CASE LAND USE AND TRIP GENERATION FOR PROPOSED CR ZONING 

a KSF = 1,000 square-feet 
b Restaurants typically have a pass-by rate in excess of 40%. However, because the subject property is 
located on a low-volume street, it is unlikely to experience a pass-by rate that high. A conservative 
assumption of 15% was applied. 

As shown, full buildout of the Tax Lot 6300 property under the proposed CR zoning could generate 
up to 50 fewer net daily trips, but an increase of 38 and 34 net new trips for the AM and PM peak 
hours, respectively. On the Tax Lot 6500 property, 310 net new daily trips could be generated, as 
well as 28 and 24 net new trips for the AM and PM peak hours, respectively. These values 
represent the reasonable worst-case trip generation produced by land uses allowed under the 
proposed CR zoning. 

  

LAND USE  
(ITE CODE) SIZE 

WEEKDAY TRIP GENERATION 

DAILY AM PEAK 
HOUR 

PM PEAK 
HOUR 

TAX LOT 6300     

SMALL OFFICE BUILDING (712) 5.4 KSFa 87 10 13 

DAY CARE CENTER (565) 5.0 KSFa 238 55 56 

Total Proposed (CR Zoning) Trips  325 65 69 

Total Existing (HD zoning) Trips  375 27 35 

Net Increase (Proposed – Existing) -50 +38 +34 

TAX LOT 6500     

HIGH TURNOVER (SIT DOWN) 
RESTAURANT (932) 

4.8 KSFa 539 48 47 

Restaurant Pass-By Reduction (15%)b -81 -7 -7 

Total Proposed (CR Zoning) Trips  458 41 41 

Total Existing (HD zoning) Trips  148 13 17 

Net Increase (Proposed – Pass-By – Existing) +310 +28 +24 



 STAYTON FBS TRANSPORTATION PLANNING RULE ANALYSIS • AUGUST 5, 2020 6 

 

TRANSPORTATION PLANNING RULE FINDINGS 

After evaluating the reasonable worst-case development potential of both the existing (HD) and 
proposed (CR) zoning, the proposed zone change will result in a maximum net increase of 310 trips 
per day on the Tax Lot 6500 property, and a net decrease of 50 trips per day on the Tax Lot 6300 
property. For both properties, the expected worst-case net increase in daily trips is less than 400, 
which is a reasonable estimate of the threshold for a “significant effect”. As such, the proposed 
zone change is not expected to have a significant effect on the surrounding transportation system 
and the Transportation Planning Rule requirements satisfied. 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT TRIP GENERATION 

The applicant is planning to utilize both Tax Lot 6300 and Tax Lot 6500 to expand indoor and 
outdoor storage space for Freres Building supply, which is adjacent to both lots. Table 5 shows the 
estimated trip generation for the planned development6. As shown, the trip generation associated 
with the planned development is equal to or less than the reasonable worst-case on both parcels, 
and is also well below the reasonable worst-case development under existing zoning. 

TABLE 5: PLANNED DEVELOPMENT TRIP GENERATION 

 

6 The planned expansion of Freres Building Supply will include only storage space and no additional retail sales 

space; The trip generation estimates are based on equivalent square footage of a building materials store (ITE 

LU 812, which includes both storage and retail), and therefore provides a very conservative estimate of the 

trips that will actually be generated by the planned expansion. 

LAND USE  
(ITE CODE) 

WEEKDAY TRIP GENERATION 

DAILY AM PEAK HOUR PM PEAK HOUR 

TAX LOT 6300     

Planned Development (Building Materials Store) 188 16 21 

Worst-Case Under Existing Zoning (HD) 375 27 35 

Worst-Case Under Proposed Zoning (CR) 325 65 69 

TAX LOT 6500     

Planned Development (Building Materials Store) 87 8 10 

Worst-Case Under Existing Zoning (HD) 148 13 17 

Worst Case Under Proposed Zoning (CR) 458 41 41 



 STAYTON FBS TRANSPORTATION PLANNING RULE ANALYSIS • AUGUST 5, 2020 7 

 

SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATION 

The applicant is requesting a zone change on two parcels, totaling 1.03 acres, in Stayton, Oregon 
located on Tax Lots 6300 and 6500. The proposed change in zoning from High Density Residential 
(HD) to Commercial Retail (CR) would result in an estimated reasonable worst-case daily trip 
decrease of 50 trips on Tax Lot 6300 and an increase of 310 net new daily trips on Tax Lot 6500.  

The requirements of Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 660-012-0060, the Transportation Planning 
Rule (TPR), must be met for proposed changes in land use zoning. The intent of the TPR (OAR 660-
12-0060) is to ensure that future land use and traffic growth is consistent with transportation 
system planning and does not create a significant effect on the surrounding transportation system 
beyond currently allowed uses. 

Based on the reasonable worst-case trip generation evaluation, the proposed zone change would 
result in a daily increase of less than 400 trips on each parcel. Therefore, even under the most 
conservative assumptions of potential development, it can be concluded that the proposed zone 
change will not significantly impact and would cause “no further degradation” to the City of Stayton 
transportation system. The number of additional daily and peak hour trips due to the proposed 
zone change is not anticipated to significantly impact transportation facilities near the project site 
and therefore, this application complies with TPR requirements. 

Please let me know if you have any questions or comments. 



C1

SI
T

E
 P

L
A

N
PR

O
PO

SE
D

 Z
O

N
E

C
H

A
N

G
E

FR
E

R
E

S 
B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 S

U
PP

L
Y

 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 6600 0.11 ACRES FRERES BUILDING SUPPLY ZONE: CR

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 6800 0.74 ACRES FRERES BUILDING SUPPLY ZONE: CR

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 3300 0.19 ACRES FRERES BUILDING SUPPLY ZONE: MD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 3600 ZONE: MD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 3200 ZONE: MD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 6000 ZONE: LD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 3400 0.12 ACRES FRERES BUILDING SUPPLY ZONE: MD

AutoCAD SHX Text
W WATER STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 6300 ZONE: MD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 6100 ZONE: LD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 3900 ZONE: MD

AutoCAD SHX Text
182 W IDA STREET W IDA STREET TAX LOT 6300 0.67 ACRES FRERES BUILDING SUPPLY ZONE: HD PROPOSED ZONE: CR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 4200 ZONE: MD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 3100 ZONE: CR

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 6200 ZONE: LD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 4000 ZONE: MD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 3500 ZONE: MD

AutoCAD SHX Text
W IDA STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED 120' X 60' WAREHOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
N ALDER AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 6400 ZONE: HD

AutoCAD SHX Text
209 W WATER STREET TAX LOT 6500 0.37 ACRES FRERES BUILDING SUPPLY ZONE: HD PROPOSED ZONE: CR

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 3300 AND 3400 CONSOLIDATED INTO ONE TAX LOT

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 6300 AND 6600 CONSOLIDATED INTO ONE TAX LOT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTG HOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTG SHED TO BE REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTG WAREHOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W WATER STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W IDA STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
N ALDER AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MD

AutoCAD SHX Text
HD

AutoCAD SHX Text
HD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LD

AutoCAD SHX Text
HD

AutoCAD SHX Text
W WATER STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
1ST AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W IDA STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
N ALDER AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MD

AutoCAD SHX Text
HD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB No:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLOT DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF     

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH SANTIAM PAVING COMPANY

AutoCAD SHX Text
41203 KINGSTON-LYONS DRIVE, P.O. BOX 516

AutoCAD SHX Text
STAYTON, OREGON 97383

AutoCAD SHX Text
(503) 769-3436

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVIW@NSPOR.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONSTRUCTION   ENGINEERING   SURVEYING

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTY, OREGON

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS SHOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
20116

AutoCAD SHX Text
LDW

AutoCAD SHX Text
LDW

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/16/2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARION

AutoCAD SHX Text
STAYTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW 1/4 SEC 10 T9S R1W TAX MAP 09 1W 10CD

AutoCAD SHX Text
182 W IDA ST & 209 W WATER ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE 1" = 30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
90

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES:

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.  THIS SITE MAP IS TO ILLUSTRATE THE   THIS SITE MAP IS TO ILLUSTRATE THE   PROPOSED ZONE CHANGE FOR FRERES BUILDING SUPPLY OF TAX LOT 6300 AND 6500 FROM TAX MAP 091W10CD. THIS IS NOT A BOUNDARY SURVEY. DIMENSIONS USED ARE FROM EXISTING SURVEYS AND TAX MAPS. 2.  TAX LOT 6600 AND 6300 WERE  TAX LOT 6600 AND 6300 WERE  CONSOLIDATED INTO ONE TAX LOT. TAX  LOT 3400 AND 3300 WERE  LOT 3400 AND 3300 WERE  CONSOLIDATED INTO ONE TAX LOT.   3. ALL TAX LOTS SHOWN ARE FROM TAX ALL TAX LOTS SHOWN ARE FROM TAX MAP 091W10CD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE 1" = 100

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
200

AutoCAD SHX Text
300

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ZONES:

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE 1" = 100

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
200

AutoCAD SHX Text
300

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED ZONE CHANGE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE LEGEND:

AutoCAD SHX Text
= CR: COMMERCIAL RETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
= MD: MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
= HD: HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
= LD: LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL



RES
COMM

DWNT

IDA

1S
T

WATER

BIR
CH

AL
DE

R

dfleishman
Typewriter
CURRENT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP



RES
COMM

DWNT

IDA

1S
T

WATER

BIR
CH

AL
DE

R

dfleishman
Typewriter
PROPOSED COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP




1

Dan Fleishman

From: John Ashley, P.E. <jashley@ashleyengr.com>

Sent: Thursday, January 20, 2022 2:31 PM

To: Lance Ludwick; Dan Fleishman

Subject: RE: Request for Comments on Comprehensive Plan Map and Zone Map Amendments

Dan/Lance, 
I do not have any comments regarding this proposed planning change unless you see something we should discuss. 
Thanks, 
 
John Ashley, P.E. 
Civil Engineer 
Ashley Engineering Design, P.C. 
Office: 503-864-9404 
Cell: 971-241-3861 
www.ashleyengr.com 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: Dan Fleishman [mailto:dfleishman@staytonoregon.gov] 
Sent: Monday, January 3, 2022 4:33 PM 
To: Adam Maurer; Andy Gardner; Brandon Reich; Brent Stevenson (brents.swcd@wvi.com); Brent Tomlinson; 
brian.kelley@nwnatural.com; Caleb Cox; Cooper.Whitman@pacificorp.com; Darrell Hammond (d5h@nwnatural.com); 
David Frisendahl; Erik Hoefer; Jack Carriger (Jack.Carriger@staytonfire.org); Janelle Shanahan; Jay Alley; John Ashley, 
P.E.; John Eckis; John Rasmussen (jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us); Kent Inman; Kristi Wheeler; Lance Ludwick; Marion Co 
Planning Div; Max Hepburn; MCPW Engineering; Michael Schmidt; Phil Jones; Robert Lee; Salem Development Services; 
Susan Wright; Troy Wheeler 
Subject: Request for Comments on Comprehensive Plan Map and Zone Map Amendments 
 
 
The City of Stayton has received applications for Comprehensive Plan Map 
amendment from Residential to Commercial and Zoning Map amendment from High 
Density Residential to Commercial Retail for the properties at 182 W Ida St 
and 209 W Water St. 
 
I have attached the application forms, the applicant's narrative, the TPR 
analysis, a site plan showing the proposed future development, the current 
comp plan designation, the proposed comp plan designation, and our usual 
request for comments form. 
 
The public hearing will be held on January 31.  Responses are needed by 
January 21, please. 
 
Thank you for your assistance. 
 
 
 
Dan Fleishman 
Planning and Development Director 
City of Stayton 



1

Dan Fleishman

From: Caleb Cox <ccox@kittelson.com>

Sent: Thursday, January 6, 2022 3:52 PM

To: Dan Fleishman

Cc: Susan Wright

Subject: RE: Request for Comments on Comprehensive Plan Map and Zone Map Amendments

Hi Dan, 
 
The TPR letter looks good and confirms the zone change will not cause significant impact to the City transportation 
system under the Oregon Transportation Planning Rule. However, City code section 17.12.180.5.c.4 says that all 
requests for a zone map amendment should be accompanied by a traffic impact analysis that calculates impacts based 
on the full range of development potential.  
 
There are a few ways we could go about this: 

1. Require a TIA per the city code. 
2. Use the same exception threshold that ODOT uses (400 daily trips) for TPR analysis and not require a TIA 
3. Put a condition on the approval that the development proposal should be limited to a certain number of trips 

 
Since this proposal is for a warehouse with minimal potential for additional trips, Option 3 might make sense. Let us 
know what you think, we are happy to schedule a call to discuss more. 
 
Thanks, 
 
 

Caleb Cox, PE 
Engineer 

Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 
Transportation Engineering / Planning 
503.535.7453 (direct) 

 

From: Dan Fleishman <dfleishman@staytonoregon.gov>  
Sent: Monday, January 3, 2022 4:33 PM 
To: Adam Maurer <amaurer@santiamhospital.com>; Andy Gardner <Andy.Gardner@nsantiam.k12.or.us>; Brandon 
Reich <breich@co.marion.or.us>; Brent Stevenson (brents.swcd@wvi.com) <brents.swcd@wvi.com>; Brent Tomlinson 
<brent.tomlinson@wavebroadband.com>; brian.kelley@nwnatural.com; Caleb Cox <ccox@kittelson.com>; 
Cooper.Whitman@pacificorp.com; Darrell Hammond (d5h@nwnatural.com) <d5h@nwnatural.com>; David Frisendahl 
<dfrisendahl@staytonoregon.gov>; Erik Hoefer <erik@sctcweb.com>; Jack Carriger (Jack.Carriger@staytonfire.org) 
<Jack.Carriger@staytonfire.org>; Janelle Shanahan <jshanahan@co.marion.or.us>; Jay Alley <jay.alley@staytonfire.org>; 
John Ashley, P.E. <jashley@ashleyengr.com>; John Eckis <johneckis@sctcweb.com>; John Rasmussen 
(jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us) <jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us>; Kent Inman <kinman@co.marion.or.us>; Kristi Wheeler 
<kristi.wheeler@pacificorp.com>; Lance Ludwick <lludwick@staytonoregon.gov>; Marion Co Planning Div 
<planning@co.marion.or.us>; Max Hepburn <mhepburn@co.marion.or.us>; MCPW Engineering 
<mcldep@co.marion.or.us>; Michael Schmidt <mschmidt@staytonoregon.gov>; Phil Jones 
<PRJONES@co.marion.or.us>; Robert Lee <rlee@wavebroadband.com>; Salem Development Services 
<developmentservices@cityofsalem.net>; Susan Wright <swright@kittelson.com>; Troy Wheeler 
<twheeler@co.marion.or.us> 
Subject: Request for Comments on Comprehensive Plan Map and Zone Map Amendments 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #15-12/21 

Freres Building Supply Comprehensive Plan Map and Zoning Map Amendment 

Page 1 of 8 

BEFORE THE STAYTON PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 )  

In the matter of ) Comprehensive Plan Map Amendment 

The application for ) Official Zoning Map Amendment 

Freres Building Supply ) File # 15-12/21 

 ) 

 

RECOMMENDATION OF APPROVAL 

I.  NATURE OF APPLICATION 

The applicant has submitted applications for a Comprehensive Plan Map amendment 

from Residential to Commercial and an Official Zoning Map amendment from High 

Density Residential to Commercial Retail. 

II. PUBLIC HEARING 

A public hearing was held on the applications before the Stayton Planning Commission 

on January 31, 2022.  At that hearing the Planning Commission reviewed Land Use File 

#15-12/21, applications for Comprehensive Plan Map amendment and Official Zoning 

Map amendment, and it was made part of the record. 

III. FINDINGS OF FACT 

A. GENERAL FACTS 

1. The owner of the properties and the applicant is Freres Building Supply. 

2. The properties are a portion of tax lot 6300 and tax lots 6500 and 6600 as shown 

on Map 91W10CD.  A majority of tax lot 6300 and tax lot 6600 are Parcel 2 of 

Partition Plat 2021-094, recorded December 14, 2021.  However, it is noted that 

the tax map has not been updated to reflect the recently recorded partition plat. 

3. Parcel 2 is addressed as 205 W Water St.  Tax Lot 6500 is addressed as 209 W 

Water St. 

4. Most of Parcel 2 is zoned High Density Residential (HD).  A 4,168 square foot 

portion of Parcel 2 that was previously Tax Lot 6400 before Partition Plat 2021-

094 was recorded is zoned Commercial Retail (CR).  Tax Lot 6500 is zoned HD. 

5. Parcel 2 is a back lot with 32,647 square feet in area.  The property has access to 

W Water St by means of a private access easement over Tax Lot 6500.  The 

property is currently vacant. 

6. Tax Lot 6500 has 108 feet of frontage on W Water St and is 150 feet deep, with a 

lot area of 16,200 square feet.  The property is developed with a single family 

detached dwelling and a 1,300 square foot storage shed.  According to aerial 

photos available on Google Earth, sometime between November 2011 and July 

2012, the rear yard of the parcel was paved and is being used for storage of 

building materials. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #15-12/21 

Freres Building Supply Comprehensive Plan Map and Zoning Map Amendment 

Page 2 of 8 

7. The neighboring properties to the east are zoned CR.  The property at the corner 

of N First Ave and W Water St is developed with a building materials retail 

establishment and is in the same ownership as the subject parcels.  The property 

at 205-275 N First Ave is developed with a shopping center with retail, 

laundromat/dry cleaning establishment, office, and eating/drinking 

establishments.  The neighboring property to the south, across W Water St, is 

zoned CR and is developed with a single family dwelling and a storage 

warehouse for the building materials retail establishment.  One of the 

neighboring properties to the west is zoned HD and is developed with a single 

family dwelling.  The other property to the west is zoned Low Density 

Residential and is developed with a single family dwelling.  One of the 

neighboring properties to the north is Parcel 1 of Partition Plat 2021-094, is 

zoned HD and Medium Density Residential (MD), reflecting the lot lines prior to 

the Partition Plat 2021-094, is developed with a single family dwelling and is in 

the same ownership as the subject parcels.  The other property to the north is 

zoned MD and developed with a single family dwelling. 

8. The proposal is to amend the Comprehensive Plan Map designation for the 

subject properties from Residential to Commercial and the zoning from High 

Density Residential to Commercial Retail, to allow the future construction of a 

warehouse for the building materials retail establishment. 

B. AGENCY COMMENTS 

The following agencies were notified of the proposal: Oregon Department of Land 

Conservation and Development, City of Stayton Public Works, Santiam Water 

Control District, Wave Broadband, Stayton Cooperative Telephone Company 

(SCTC), Pacific Power, Northwest Natural Gas, Stayton Fire District, Stayton Police 

Department, North Santiam School District, Marion County Public Works, and 

Marion County Planning Division.  A notice of Post-Adoption Plan Amendment was 

filed with the Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development on 

December 27, 2021. 

Comments were received from Pacific Power regarding construction on the parcel, 

but not addressing the criteria for approval of a Comprehensive Plan Map or Zone 

Map amendment.  Comments were received from the City’s transportation planning 

consultant that are reflected in the findings below. 

C. PUBLIC COMMENTS  

The surrounding property owners were notified of the public hearing and the 

applications and notice appeared on the City’s website.  No comments were received 

from the public. 

D. ANALYSIS 

Comprehensive Plan Map amendments are required to satisfy approval criteria 

contained within Stayton Municipal Code (SMC) Chapter 17, Section 17.12.170.6.  

Official Zoning Map amendments are required to satisfy approval criteria contained 

within SMC Chapter 17, Section 17.12.180.6. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #15-12/21 

Freres Building Supply Comprehensive Plan Map and Zoning Map Amendment 

Page 3 of 8 

E. APPROVAL CRITERIA 

Section 17.12.170.6 Comprehensive Plan Amendment Approval Criteria. 

Pursuant to SMC 17.12.170.6.b the following criteria must be demonstrated as being 

satisfied by the application for a Comprehensive Plan amendment: 

1) The amendment is consistent with the goals and policies of the Comprehensive 
Plan, including any relevant area plans, and the statewide planning goals.  In the 
case of a Comprehensive Plan Map amendment, the requested designation for 
the site shall be evaluated against relevant Comprehensive Plan policies and the 
decision authority shall find that the requested designation on balance is more 
supportive of the Comprehensive Plan as a whole than the old designation.  

Finding:  The Comprehensive Plan describes the purpose of the Commercial 

designation as proving areas for retail, service, office, and other commercial 

activities.  The Plan indicates that the areas around the Highway 22 interchanges 

shall be oriented towards commercial uses that serve the traveling public.  

However, no other direction is provided in the Plan as to the location of 

commercial areas. 

The Stayton Economic Development Strategy and Action Plan, adopted by the 

City Council in June 2019, stresses the importance of retention and expansion of 

existing businesses in growing the City’s economic base.   

2) The current Comprehensive Plan does not provide adequate areas in appropriate 
locations for uses allowed in the proposed land use designation and the addition 
of this property to the inventory of lands so designated is consistent with 
projected needs for such lands in the Comprehensive Plan. 

Finding:  The Comprehensive Plan notes that there were 23 vacant lots zoned 

commercial with a total area of 19 acres.  The Planning Department reports that 

there are currently 19 vacant commercially zoned parcels with a total area of 26 

acres, one of which is a portion of Parcel 2 that was a separate parcel prior to 

Partition Plat 21-094.  There are six vacant commercially zoned lots larger than 

one acre, with one at 4.41 acres and one at 7.9 acres. 

3) Compliance is demonstrated with the statewide land use goals that apply to the 
subject properties or to the proposed land use designation. If the proposed 
designation on the subject property requires an exception to the Goals, the 
applicable criteria in the LCDC Administrative Rules for the type of exception 
needed shall also apply. 

Finding:  The pertinent Statewide Land Use Goals are Goals 5, 7, 9, and 10.  

Goal 5 is to protect natural resources and conserve scenic and historic areas and 

open spaces.  There are no “Goal 5 Resources” identified in the Comprehensive 

Plan on or adjacent to the subject properties.  Goal 7 is to protect people and 

property from natural hazards.  There are no natural hazards identified on or 

adjacent to the subject properties.  Goal 9 is to provide adequate opportunities 

throughout the state for a variety of economic activities vital to the health, 

welfare, and prosperity of Oregon's citizens.  Amendment of the Comprehensive 

Plan Map designation to Commercial would increase opportunity for economic 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #15-12/21 

Freres Building Supply Comprehensive Plan Map and Zoning Map Amendment 

Page 4 of 8 

activity in the City and would implement the adopted Economic Development 

Strategy of supporting the expansion of existing businesses. 

Goal 10 is to provide for the housing needs of the citizens of the state.  The 

proposed amendment would reduce the amount of land designated for residential 

use.  However, the Comprehensive Plan indicates that there were 950 acres of 

land designated for residential growth in the urban growth area.  The 

Comprehensive Plan indicated that approximately 460 acres of land would be 

needed for residential growth during the planning period. This amendment would 

result in a decrease of less than 0.1% in the amount of available land for 

residential development, and still leave a surplus of almost 500 acres above what 

is projected to be needed during the planning period. 

The properties proposed for the comprehensive plan amendment have been 

zoned HD since the adoption of city-wide zoning in the mid-1970s.  Until 2019, 

they each had a single family dwelling on them.  One of the single family 

dwellings was demolished.  The proposal would reduce the amount of land zoned 

HD by 1.2 acres. 

The City has recently annexed 5.2 acres of land zoned HD for which a 100-unit 

multifamily development has received site plan approval.  The City has just 

annexed a 19.1 acre parcel of land which has been zoned MD and will see a mix 

of single family detached, single family attached, duplex and triplex 

development. 

The Comprehensive Plan projected a need for 174 new multifamily dwelling 

units during the 20-year planning period.  The city has approved development of 

104 units since that time. 

4) Existing or anticipated transportation facilities are adequate for uses permitted 
under the proposed designation and the proposed amendment is in conformance 
with the Oregon Transportation Planning Rule (OAR 660-012-0060).  

Finding:  The applicant submitted an analysis of the potential impacts of the 

Comprehensive Plan Map amendment on the transportation system.  The analysis 

was prepared by Lacy Brown, PE.  The analysis was based on two parcels, 

totaling 1.03 acres having the Comprehensive Plan designation changed.  The 

analysis noted that under the Oregon Highway Plan, a net increase of 400 daily 

trips qualifies as a significant effect.  The analysis estimated that under the 

current HD zoning and Residential designation the worst-case traffic generation 

would be 523 daily trips.  The analysis projected traffic generation from a 

possible small office building, day care center and high turnover sit down 

restaurant as the worst-case scenario under the proposed zoning, with a net 

increase of 260 daily trips.  The analysis was reviewed by the City’s 

transportation planning consultants who agreed with the methodology and 

conclusions. In light of the Oregon Highway Plan’s qualification of a net increase 

of less than 400 daily trips as not significant, the City transportation planning 

consultant recommended a cap on the trips from future development of the 

properties to no more than 400. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #15-12/21 

Freres Building Supply Comprehensive Plan Map and Zoning Map Amendment 

Page 5 of 8 

5) The current Comprehensive Plan Map provides more than the projected need for 
lands in the existing land use designation. 

Finding:  There are 1,827 acres of land in the UGB currently designated as 

Residential.  The Comprehensive Plan indicates that there are 921 buildable acres 

of land inside the UGB, and outside of the City Limits.  Since that time, there 

have been about 54 acres of residential land annexed.  The Plan also indicates 

that the City will need approximately 460 acres of land for residential 

development over the course of the planning period, and that there were 144 

acres of buildable land in the city zoned for residential use. The Comprehensive 

Plan indicates that there were 950 acres of land designated for residential growth 

in the urban growth area.  This amendment would result in a decrease of less than 

0.1% in the amount of available land for residential development, and still leave 

a surplus of almost 500 acres above what is projected to be need during the 

planning period.   

6) Public facilities and services necessary to support uses allowed in the proposed 
designation are available or are likely to be available in the near future. 

Finding:  The application indicates that the proposed development will be a 

building supplies warehouse.  There is a 16-inch water main in W Water Street.  

Access to the water main for the warehouse would require a public utility 

easement or a private water easement benefitting Parcel 2 over Tax Lot 6500.  

There is an 8-inch sewer main in N Alder Ave and an 8-inch sewer main in W 

Water St.  Parcel 2 benefits from a public utility easement over Parcel 1 of 

Partition Plan 2021-094 providing access to the sewer main in N Alder. 

7) Uses allowed in the proposed designation will not significantly adversely affect 
existing or planned uses on adjacent lands. 

Finding:  The properties to the east and south of the subject properties are zoned 

commercial and in commercial uses.  The properties to the north and west are 

zoned residential and developed with single family dwellings.  Tax Lot 6500 

already has commercial use established on it and no change in the use is 

projected.  Parcel 2, being a back lot, is not likely to be developed with any other 

commercial use than the proposed building supplies warehouse.  The application 

states that it will not be open to retail customer traffic and will generate traffic 

mainly from the delivery and shipping of building materials. 

Section 17.12.180.6 Official Zoning Map Amendment Approval Criteria.  

Pursuant to SMC 17.12.180.6.b the following criteria must be demonstrated as being 

satisfied by the application for Zoning Map amendment: 

1) The proposed zone is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan map designation 
for the subject property unless a Comprehensive Plan Map amendment has 
also been applied for and is otherwise compatible with applicable provisions of 
the Comprehensive Plan. 

Findings:  There is a concurrent application to amend the Comprehensive Plan 

Map designation from Residential to commercial. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #15-12/21 

Freres Building Supply Comprehensive Plan Map and Zoning Map Amendment 

Page 6 of 8 

2) Existing or anticipated services (water, sanitary sewers, storm sewers, schools, 
police and fire protection) can accommodate potential development in the 
subject area without adverse impact on the affected service area.  

Findings:  There is a 16-inch water main in W Water Street.  Access to the 

water main for the warehouse would require a public utility easement or a 

private water easement benefitting Parcel 2 over Tax Lot 6500.  There is an 8-

inch sewer main in N Alder Ave and an 8-inch sewer main in W Water St.  

Parcel 2 benefits from a public utility easement over Parcel 1 of Partition Plat 

2021-094 providing access to the sewer main in N Alder.  The application 

states that only electric power service is anticipated to serve the proposed 

development. 

3) Existing or anticipated transportation facilities are adequate for uses permitted 
under the proposed zone designation and the proposed amendment is in 
conformance with the Oregon Transportation Planning Rule (OAR 660-012-
0060).  

Findings:  The applicant submitted an analysis of the potential impacts of the 

Comprehensive Plan Map amendment on the transportation system.  The 

analysis was prepared by Lacy Brown, PE.  The analysis was based on two 

parcels, totaling 1.03 having the comprehensive plan designation changed.  The 

analysis noted that under the Oregon Highway Plan, a net increase of 400 daily 

trips qualifies as a significant effect.  The analysis estimated that under the 

current HD zoning and Residential designation the worst-case traffic 

generation would be 523 daily trips.  The analysis projected traffic generation 

from a possible small office building, day care center and high turnover sit 

down restaurant as the worst-case scenario under the proposed zoning, with a 

net increase of 260 daily trips.  The analysis was reviewed by the City’s 

transportation planning consultants who agreed with the methodology and 

conclusions. In light of the Oregon Highway Plan’s qualification of a net 

increase of less than 400 daily trips as not significant, the City transportation 

planning consultant recommended a cap on the trips from future development 

of the properties to no more than 400. 

4) The purpose of the proposed zoning district satisfies the goals and policies of 
the Comprehensive Plan.  

Findings:  Three categories of comprehensive policies are appropriate to look 

at with this application:  housing, land use, and economic development. 

Policy HO-4 is to encourage the maintenance, conservation and enhancement 

of existing residential areas and housing stock.  There is an existing single 

family home on Tax Lot 6500.  Parcel 2 is vacant. 

Policy LU-1 is that the City will adopt a zoning map consistent with the 

Comprehensive Plan Map.  This policy is to be implemented by an action that 

zoning district boundaries are to follow property lines and rights of way 

centerlines a much as practicable.  The recently recorded Partition Plat 2021-

094 has adjusted property lines of the subject properties.  The proposed Zoning 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #15-12/21 

Freres Building Supply Comprehensive Plan Map and Zoning Map Amendment 

Page 7 of 8 

Map amendments would adjust zoning district boundaries to follow property 

lines.  This order recommends the addition of adjusting the line between the 

HD and MD zone to follow the new parcel line between Parcel 1 and Parcel 2 

of the partitioning. 

Policy LU-6 is that the central business area of Stayton shall continue to be the 

primary retail business area of the community.  The proposed zoning 

amendment would expand the commercial zoning to an area adjacent to the 

central business district. 

Policy EC-1 is to maintain downtown Stayton as an area for retail shops, 

restaurants, entertainment, government offices, and professional offices.  

Though the applicant’s existing business is not in the area designated as 

Downtown by the Comprehensive Plan it is in the area covered by the City’s 

Downtown Revitalization and Transportation Plan.  The subject properties are 

adjacent to the downtown area and this amendment will support the retail 

business located on N First Ave. 

Policy EC-2 is to enhance and protect the vitality of the City’s existing 

commercial and service sector while maintaining a level of retail growth that is 

proportional to the size of the City.  This proposal will allow the gradual 

expansion of an existing retail business. 

5) Balance is maintained in the supply of vacant land in the zones affected by the 
zone change to meet the demand for projected development in the 
Comprehensive Plan.  Vacant land in the proposed zone is not adequate in size, 
configuration or other characteristics to support the proposed use or 
development.  A Zone Map Amendment shall not eliminate all available vacant 
land from any zoning designation. 

Findings:  There are 3 vacant lots within the City that are zoned HD, with a 

combined area of 10 acres.  One of the vacant HD parcels has received site plan 

review approval for an apartment complex, but construction has not 

commenced.  There are 8 vacant lots zoned CR, including the portion of Tax 

Parcel 2 that was previously a separate parcel, with a combined acreage of 8.6 

acres.  The subject parcels are adjacent to the existing retail use and are 

therefore the only parcels suitable for the proposed use or development. 

6) The proposed zone amendment satisfies applicable provisions of Oregon 
Administrative Rules. 

Findings:  The applicant provided an analysis required by OAR 660-012-0060.  

Notice of the first evidentiary hearing on this application was provided to the 

Department of Land Conservation and Development as required by OAR 660-

018-0020. 

7) The physical characteristics of the property proposed for rezoning are 
appropriate for the proposed zone and the potential uses allowed by the 
proposed zone will not have an adverse impact on the surrounding land uses. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #15-12/21 

Freres Building Supply Comprehensive Plan Map and Zoning Map Amendment 

Page 8 of 8 

Findings:  The subject property is flat and level.  No physical characteristics, 

natural resources or hazards are identified that create obstacles or prevent its 

use in the proposed zone or for the proposed use.  

IV. CONCLUSION 

Based on the facts above, the Planning Commission concludes that the application meets 

the requirements established in SMC Sections 17.12.170.6 and 17.12.180.6, provided a 

restriction is placed on the properties that caps future traffic generation to no more than 

400 trips per day. 

V. ORDER 

Based on the conclusion above, the Planning Commission recommends to the City 

Council that the City Council approve the applications for Comprehensive Plan Map 

amendment and Official Zoning Map amendment, that the City Council place a 

condition on the map amendments that vehicular traffic from the two parcels be limited 

to no more than 400 trips per day, and further that the Official Zoning Map should be 

amended to adjust the boundary between the HD zone and MD to follow the new parcel 

boundary to place all of Parcel 1 of Partition Plat 2021-094 in the MD zone. 

 

 

 __________________________ __________________ 

 Ralph Lewis, Date 

 Planning Commission Chairperson   

 

 

 __________________________ __________________ 

 Dan Fleishman, Date 

 Director of Planning and Development 

 



C it y  o f  S t ayt on  

Department of Planning and Development 
362 N. Third Avenue • Stayton, OR 97383 

Phone: (503) 769-2998 • Fax (503) 769-2134 

dfleishman@staytonoregon.gov www.staytonoregon.gov 
 

 

1 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 TO: Chairperson Ralph Lewis and Planning Commission Members 

 FROM: Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning and Development 

 DATE: January 31, 2022 

 SUBJECT: Site Plan Approval, GFP Enterprises, 1319 W Washington St  

 120 DAYS ENDS:  May 4, 2022 

 

 

ISSUE 

The issue before the Planning Commission is a public hearing on an application for site plan 

approval for the construction of a wildfire fighting staging area at.   

BACKGROUND 

The property is located on the north side of W Washington St, adjacent to the railroad right of way.  

The property is Parcel 2 of Partition Plat 1998-004.  The plan is to construct a 1,200 square foot 

office building, and a 3,600 square foot shop building, with parking and outdoor storage.  A March, 

2020 aerial photo of the property is below: 

 



C it y  o f  S t ayt on  

 

 

2 

ANALYSIS 

This report presents the Planning Staff’s summary and analysis concerning this application.  It was 

developed with the input of other City departments and agencies. 

Attached is an application for site plan approval from GFP Enterprises, LLC.  The application 

consists of the application form and narrative, a site plan, architectural drawings, a landscape plan, a 

transportation assessment letter, a preliminary stormwater management report and a geotechnical 

report.  The complete application submission has been posted on the City’s website, but has not 

been included in the Planning Commission Packet.  Included in the packet are 

• The application form 

• Applicant’s narrative 

• Site Plan 

• Architectural Plans 

• Transportation Assessment Letter 

• The narrative from the Preliminary Stormwater report, without figures or appendices 

Also included in the packet is the review memo from the City Engineer and the review comments 

received from Kittelson & Associates. 

Staff has a small number of minor concerns about the application.  These concerns have all been 

addressed by suggested conditions of approval regarding revisions in the landscape plan, the need to 

show an outdoor service area (trash dumpster), and specifications for the perimeter fencing. 

RECOMMENDATION 

The staff recommendation for conditional approval is reflected in the draft order that is attached to 

the staff report.  This recommendation contains a number of conditions of approval to bring the 

plans into compliance with the requirements of the Code and to address engineering details. 

There may be testimony at the public hearing that requires the draft order be modified to reflect that 

testimony. 

OPTIONS AND SUGGESTED MOTIONS 

Staff has provided the Planning Commission with a number of options, each with an appropriate 

motion.  The Planning Department recommends the first option. 

1. Approve the application, adopting the draft order as presented. 

I move the Stayton Planning Commission approve the application of GFP Enterprises, LLC 

(Land Use File #16-12/21) and adopt the draft order presented by Staff.  

2. Approve the application with conditions, adopting modifications to the draft order. 

I move the Stayton Planning Commission approve the application of GFP Enterprises, LLC 

(Land Use File #16-12/21) adopt the draft order with the following changes...  

3. Approve the application with conditions, directing staff to modify the draft order. 

I move the Stayton Planning Commission approve the application of GFP Enterprises, LLC 

(Land Use File #16-12/21) direct staff to modify the draft order to reflect the Planning 

Commission’s discussion and bring a revised draft order for Planning Commission approval at 

the February 28, 2022 meeting.  

4. Deny the application, adopting the findings and conclusions in the draft order. 



C it y  o f  S t ayt on  

 

 

3 

I move that the Stayton Planning Commission deny the application of GFP Enterprises, LLC 

(Land Use File #16-12/21) and direct staff to modify the draft order to reflect the Planning 

Commission’s discussion and bring a revised draft order for Planning Commission approval at 

the February 28, 2022 meeting.  

5. Continue the hearing until February 28, 2022. 

I move the Stayton Planning Commission continue the public hearing on the application of GFP 

Enterprises, LLC (Land Use File #16-12/21) until February 28, 2022.  

6. Close the hearing but keep the record open for submission of written testimony. 

I move the Stayton Planning Commission close the hearing on the application of GFP 

Enterprises, LLC (Land Use File #16-12/21) but maintain the record open to submissions by the 

applicant until February 14, allowing 7 days for review and rebuttal and then an additional 7 

days for the applicant to reply, with final closure of the record on February 28, 2022.  

7. Close the hearing and record, and continue the deliberation to the next meeting. 

I move the Stayton Planning Commission continue the deliberation on the application of GFP 

Enterprises, LLC (Land Use File #16-12/21) February 28, 2022. 











DBF 11/22/21 1450 10.003249

14-11/21







































































































1

Dan Fleishman

From: Caleb Cox <ccox@kittelson.com>

Sent: Thursday, January 20, 2022 8:08 AM

To: Dan Fleishman

Cc: Susan Wright

Subject: RE: Request for Comments on Site Plan Review Application

Hi Dan, 
 
We’ve review the transportation assessment letter and agree with the findings. The trip generation estimate shows that 
the site will not exceed 25 peak hour trips. 
 
The letter notes that the proposed site driveway doesn’t meet spacing standards. But we agree with the applicant that 
the driveway location they have shown is the best option for this site. 
 
Thanks, 
Caleb 
 

Caleb Cox, PE 
Engineer 

Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 
Transportation Engineering / Planning 
503.535.7453 (direct) 

 

From: Dan Fleishman <dfleishman@staytonoregon.gov>  
Sent: Thursday, January 6, 2022 9:02 AM 
To: Adam Maurer <amaurer@santiamhospital.com>; Andy Gardner <Andy.Gardner@nsantiam.k12.or.us>; Brandon 
Reich <breich@co.marion.or.us>; Brent Stevenson (brents.swcd@wvi.com) <brents.swcd@wvi.com>; 
brian.kelley@nwnatural.com; Caleb Cox <ccox@kittelson.com>; Cooper.Whitman@pacificorp.com; Darrell Hammond 
(d5h@nwnatural.com) <d5h@nwnatural.com>; David Frisendahl <dfrisendahl@staytonoregon.gov>; Erik Hoefer 
<erik@sctcweb.com>; Jack Carriger (Jack.Carriger@staytonfire.org) <Jack.Carriger@staytonfire.org>; Janelle Shanahan 
<jshanahan@co.marion.or.us>; Jay Alley <jay.alley@staytonfire.org>; John Ashley, P.E. <jashley@ashleyengr.com>; John 
Eckis <johneckis@sctcweb.com>; John Rasmussen (jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us) <jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us>; Kent 
Inman <kinman@co.marion.or.us>; Kristi Wheeler <kristi.wheeler@pacificorp.com>; Lance Ludwick 
<lludwick@staytonoregon.gov>; Marion Co Planning Div <planning@co.marion.or.us>; Max Hepburn 
<mhepburn@co.marion.or.us>; MCPW Engineering <mcldep@co.marion.or.us>; Michael Schmidt 
<mschmidt@staytonoregon.gov>; Phil Jones <PRJONES@co.marion.or.us>; Robert Lee <rlee@wavebroadband.com>; 
Salem Development Services <developmentservices@cityofsalem.net>; Susan Wright <swright@kittelson.com>; Troy 
Wheeler <twheeler@co.marion.or.us>; WAVE Construction Team (oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com) 
<oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com> 
Subject: Request for Comments on Site Plan Review Application 
 
The City of Stayton has received an application for Site Plan review for the development of a staging area for a wildfire 
fighting contractor.  The property is addressed as 1319 W Washington St, Map 091W10DA  Lot 1103. 
 
The application materials include an application form, the applicant’s narrative, a site plan, architectural drawings of the 
proposed buildings, landscape plan, preliminary stormwater report, geotechnical report, and transportation impact 
analysis.  These documents, combined, are too large to send by email.  They have all been uploaded to the City’s 



 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

1319 W. WASHINGTON STREET  PAGE 1 OF 8 
APPLICATION REVIEW (1-21-22) 

 

Application – 1319 W. Washington Street Staging Facility 

City of Stayton – Land Use File No. 14-11/21

TO: Dan Fleishman/City Planner 

FROM: John Ashley, P.E./City Engineer 

COPIES: Lance Ludwick, P.E./Public Works Director 

PROJECT: 1319 W. Washington Street Staging Facility – Land Use Application 

Review 

 
DATE: January 21, 2022 

Background 

I received a copy of the application provided by GFP Enterprises, LLC., with site plans provided 

by Project Delivery Group, LLC., for owner Pollard Investments, LLC., with a request by the City 

of Stayton to review and respond.  The application is to construct a wildfire staging facility at 

1319 W. Washington Street. 

 

The following land use application review concentrates on the public works aspects and 

implications of the application, including anticipated impacts to existing public utilities and 

recommended public improvements.  The review findings and public works recommendations 

are based on a review of the applicable public works portions of the City of Stayton Municipal 

Code (SMC) and Public Works Design Standards (PWDS), and does not include a review of any 

other agency’s requirements, or any building or other specialty code requirements covered 

under such building, plumbing, mechanical, electrical, fire, or any other applicable codes and 

regulations that may be required for the project. 

 

The Developer will be required to obtain any and all required reviews, approvals, and permits 

required by the Planning Conditions of Approval, SMC, PWDS, Marion County, DEQ, OHA-DWS, 

Fire Code Official, Building Official, and/or any other agencies having jurisdiction over the work.  

As such, the Developer shall coordinate with Public Works, Fire Code Official, Building Official, 

and other appropriate agencies as necessary.  The City of Stayton Municipal Code and Public 

Works Standards are available online at http://www.staytonoregon.gov, under the document 

center and the public works department menus. 

 

It is recommended that City Staff review this memorandum in conjunction with their 

application review. 



 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

1319 W. WASHINGTON STREET  PAGE 2 OF 8 
APPLICATION REVIEW (1-21-22) 

 

Project Overview 

Project Site and Access 

The application shows the location of the proposed development to be within Township 9 

South, Range 1 West, Section 9DA, Tax Lot 01103.  Proposed vehicular access is from W. 

Washington Street through a new driveway approach.  Tax Lot 01103 is approximately 0.51 

acres in size. 

Existing Site Topography and Utilities 

Existing site topography and utilities were provided with the application.  The application site 

plan indicates that there is an existing 10” sanitary sewer system, a 6” water main, and an 

existing 15” storm drainage system located in W. Washington Street. 

Construction Phasing 

The application did not indicate if the proposed development will be constructed in multiple 

construction phases.  In accordance with PWDS 103.01.B, if a development that has been 

approved by the City to be constructed in multiple phases, the construction plans for each 

phase of the development shall be substantially and functionally self-contained and self-

sustaining with regard to access, utilities, open spaces, and similar physical features, and shall 

be capable of substantial occupancy, operation, and maintenance should the subsequent 

phases of the development not be developed.  City approval of the construction plans and the 

time by which construction must begin of one construction phase, shall be independent of City 

approval for all other construction phases of the development. 

Horizontal and Vertical Datum 

The application site plan did indicate the horizontal and vertical datum being used for the 

development.  In accordance with PWDS 102.03, all elevations on design plans and record 

drawings shall be based on the NAVD88 Datum, and the horizontal datum shall be based on the 

Stayton local datum or Oregon State Plain Coordinate System (NAD83). 

Findings 

Transportation 

• TIA/TAL – A Transportation Assessment Letter was submitted with the application for 

the City Traffic Engineer’s (Kittelson & Associates) review. 

• Right of Way (R/W) – Right-of-ways shall comply with PWDS 312, Geometric Design 

Requirements by Street Functional Classification. 



 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

1319 W. WASHINGTON STREET  PAGE 3 OF 8 
APPLICATION REVIEW (1-21-22) 

 

o W. Washington Street – W. Washington Street is designated as a minor arterial 

under City jurisdiction.  It appears that additional right-of-way will not be required to 

meet the 60’ standard width requirement. 

• Street Improvements – Street sections shall comply with PWDS 312, Geometric Design 

Requirements by Street Functional Classification.  It shall be the responsibility of the 

Developer to preserve and protect the current pavement condition index rating and the 

structural integrity of the existing roadways from construction traffic to the satisfaction 

of the Public Works Director throughout all phases of development.  Failure to preserve 

and protect the roadways may result in the Developer being responsible for replacing 

and reconstructing the damaged roadways at the Developer’s expense.  It should be 

noted that final asphalt concrete pavement and sidewalk sawcut lines for all street 

improvements will be established by the City Inspector with the Design Engineer and 

Contractor during construction.   

o W. Washington Street – W. Washington Street is considered to be partially 

developed across the frontage of the development with existing curbs and asphalt 

pavement.  A 6’ wide property line sidewalk will be required to be installed across 

the frontage in accordance with PWDS 312. 

• Parking Lot – 

o Parking lot design shall minimize congestion and take into account both vehicle 

traffic and pedestrian traffic and shall comply with standard engineering practice, 

the SMC, and Public Works Standards. 

o All traffic circulation patterns shall be designed to accommodate emergency vehicles 

as necessary.  

o The proper number and type of ADA parking stalls shall be provided. 

o Parking lot lighting shall be in accordance with SMC 17.20.170.4.c.  The type, 

spacing, and location of parking lot lighting shall be as approved by the City. 

o Finish grades shall be such that stormwater runoff will be directed towards an 

appropriate stormwater system.  New parking lot catch basins shall be designed to 

support H-20 loading and shall be equipped with sediment and stormwater pollution 

control traps and water quality manholes.   

• Sight Distance and Clearance Areas – Adequate sight distance and clearance areas shall 

be provided in accordance with PWDS 303.06.  Landscaping shall be located and 

designed to prevent obstruction of the sight distances and clear vision areas. 

• Driveway – The driveway shall be constructed with a standard driveway approach per 

the standard drawings and shall comply with PWDS 303.11 and the SMC.  

• Street Lighting – The location of existing street lights along E. Santiam Street shall be 

reviewed and any additional street lighting shall be provided as necessary to comply 

with PWDS 308, unless directed otherwise. 

• Streetscape Appurtenances – All public and private streetscape appurtenances that 

currently exist or will be placed in the right-of-way that will impact the sidewalk and/or 

the landscape strip shall be coordinated and shown on the plans as necessary.  



 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

1319 W. WASHINGTON STREET  PAGE 4 OF 8 
APPLICATION REVIEW (1-21-22) 

 

Franchise utility poles and other utility structures shall be coordinated with rightful 

utility owners and located in accordance with the PWDS.  Street trees shall be provided 

in accordance with PWDS 309.05; however, they shall be located and designed to 

prevent obstruction of the sight distances and clear vision areas. 

• Transportation System Plan – There are no transportation system improvements 

indentified in the Transportation System Plan applicable to this development. 

• Parks Master Plan – The development shall comply with the Parks Master Plan, 

including the appropriate open space, any trails, and landscaping. 

• Engineered Plans – The Developer shall submit to the City for review and approval 

engineered site and street improvement plans conforming to the SMC and Public Works 

Standards. 

Water  

• Domestic Service and Backflow Prevention – Modifications to the existing water system 

shall comply with the SMC, Public Works Standards, and comply with applicable 

building/specialty codes.  Any existing water services proposed to be reused shall be 

located and inspected prior to reuse.  If the existing water service is found by Public 

Works to be unacceptable for reuse, then a new water service shall be provided.  Per 

SMC 13.16.390, each non-residential establishment shall have a separate water service 

line and water meter, unless otherwise approved by the Public Works Director.  All 

backflow prevention details will need to be reviewed and approved by the City, Building 

Official, and the Fire Code Official, as applicable.  Only Oregon Health Authority – 

Drinking Water Services (OHA-DWS) approved backflow devices shall be used.  All 

private utilities will need to be adequately sized and designed by the Design Engineer in 

accordance with applicable building/specialty codes, and reviewed and approved by the 

Building Official. 

• Fire Protection – Generally, fire hydrant(s) are required to be installed within 250’ of 

any new structure, unless otherwise approved by the Fire Code Official.  The Developer 

shall review and coordinate with the Fire Code Official to ensure compliance with 

applicable fire codes and regulations.  Any necessary water system improvements shall 

comply with the Public Works Standards and be shown on the engineered plans.  The 

Developer shall provide the necessary fire access, protection devices, and system 

modifications and meet all other fire protection requirements of the Fire Code Official. 

• Fire Code Official Approval – Prior to Site Development Permit final plan approval, the 

Developer shall provide written documentation that the Fire Code Official has reviewed 

and approved all required fire access, protection devices, and system modifications, 

unless otherwise deferred in writing by the Fire Code Official. 

• Water Master Plan – There are no water system improvements identified in the Water 

Master Plan applicable to this development. 

• Engineered Plans – The Developer shall submit to the City for review and approval an 

engineered water system plan conforming to the SMC, Public Works Standards, and 



 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

1319 W. WASHINGTON STREET  PAGE 5 OF 8 
APPLICATION REVIEW (1-21-22) 

 

meeting the requirements of the Building Official and Fire Code Official.  A utility 

easement in accordance with PWDS 102.08 shall be provided if a public water main 

and/or public fire hydrant is extended outside the public right-of-way. 

Sanitary Sewer 

• Sanitary Sewer – Modifications to the existing sanitary sewer system shall comply with 

the SMC, Public Works Standards, and comply with applicable building/specialty codes.  

Any existing sewer service proposed to be reused shall be located, televised and 

inspected prior to reuse.  If the existing service is found by Public Works to be 

unacceptable for reuse, then a new sewer service shall be provided.  Also, in accordance 

with PWDS 506.01.B, commercial buildings shall have a 6” min sanitary sewer service 

lateral, unless approved otherwise.  A two-way property line cleanout shall also be 

provided if one does not currently exist at the existing connection.  All private utilities 

will need to be adequately sized and designed by the Design Engineer in accordance 

with applicable building/specialty codes, and reviewed and approved by the Building 

Official. 

• Sanitary Sewer Master Plan – There are no sanitary sewer improvements identified in 

the Sanitary Sewer Master Plan applicable to this development. 

• Engineered Plans – The Developer shall submit to the City for review and approval 

engineered sanitary sewer plans conforming to the SMC, Public Works Standards, and 

meeting the requirements of the Building Official. 

Stormwater 

• New Storm Drainage System – All private utilities will need to be adequately sized and 

designed by the Design Engineer in accordance with applicable building/specialty codes, 

and reviewed and approved by the Building Official. 

• Stormwater Analysis and Report – A stormwater analysis, drainage report and 

supporting documentation will be required in accordance with PWDS 603.01.  Existing 

site topography, site infiltration rates, off-site contributing areas, and the seasonal high 

groundwater elevation will need to be considered and included in the stormwater 

design.  All developed open water surface areas will need to be included in the 

stormwater calculations and the required stormwater facility setback distances shall be 

included in the design and shown on the plans.  Careful review and consideration of the 

site’s high seasonal groundwater elevation, and any impacts it may have on the 

stormwater management facility, will need to be included in the analysis.  Based on a 

review of the preliminary stormwater report, revisions to the proposed stormwater 

facility design will be necessary in order to comply with PWDS that may affect the 

overall stormwater facility size, location, and other stormwater facility design 

parameters.  This may also impact the overall building and parking lot configuration.  

The main concerns with the preliminary stormwater facility design as proposed are: 



 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

1319 W. WASHINGTON STREET  PAGE 6 OF 8 
APPLICATION REVIEW (1-21-22) 

 

o The depth to the seasonal high groundwater.  As further indicated in PWDS 

609.01.A, the City is known to have seasonal high groundwater issues and the 

groundwater elevations shown in adjacent well logs may or may not be a 

reflection of the seasonal variations that actually exist at the site.  As such, the 

seasonal high groundwater elevation needs to be determined by field investigation 

and observed by Public Works so that the City can verify that proper vertical 

separation distances are being provided in order to support the infiltration facility 

design.  Per PWDS Table 602.05.C, a 5’ minimum vertical separation from the high 

seasonal groundwater shall be provided, unless otherwise approved. 

o The preliminary design infiltration rate.  The stormwater facility’s infiltration rate 

limiting factor will be either the stormwater facility growing medium infiltration 

rate per the SWMM, or the native soil infiltration rate with the appropriate factor 

of safety applied, whichever is less. 

• Stormwater Quality and Quantity – Stormwater quality and quantity provisions will be 

required in accordance with PWDS 607 and 608.   

• Stormwater quality facilities meeting the requirements of the PWDS will be 

required.  Best management practices shall be used to minimize any degradation of 

stormwater quality caused by the development.  A stormwater quality manhole will 

need to be provided upstream of vegetated stormwater facilities per PWDS 607.03, 

unless otherwise approved.  See PWDS 607 for stormwater quality facility 

requirements. 

o If detention is proposed, stormwater quantity facilities will be required to detain 

post-developed peak runoff rates from the 2-year, 5-year, 10-year, 50-year, and 100-

year 24-hour storm events to the respective pre-developed peak runoff rates, and 

the post-developed peak runoff rate for the 25-year storm event will be required to 

be detained to the 10-year pre-developed peak runoff rate per PWDS 602.05.C.  A 

downstream capacity analysis may also be required per PWDS 603.01.B.  See PWDS 

608 for stormwater quantity facility requirements. 

o If retention is proposed, then the stormwater retention facility shall be designed to 

retain a 100-year storm event per PWDS 602.05.C.  The City is known to have high 

seasonal groundwater issues, so if infiltration is proposed, the site’s actual 

infiltration rates (to be determined during wet-weather months) and the seasonal 

high groundwater elevation for this area will need to be determined and the 

potential impacts to the stormwater drainage system and stormwater facilities 

(including the vertical separation requirements) will need to be considered in the 

design.  If UICs are proposed, then written documentation shall be provided to the 

City prior to City permit issuance that UIC approval and necessary permit(s) have 

been obtained from DEQ. 

o Provisions for an adequate and approved emergency overflow system are required 

to convey the post-developed 100-year storm event flows to an acceptable point of 

discharge.  Additional provisions shall be provided at all locations where the 



 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

1319 W. WASHINGTON STREET  PAGE 7 OF 8 
APPLICATION REVIEW (1-21-22) 

 

overflow system will create ponding to hazardous depths.  Emergency access shall 

be provided at all times. 

o Appropriate setbacks from the edge of the stormwater management facility’s 

maximum water surface to building foundations and to the property lines shall be 

provided, unless an easement with adjacent property owners is provided, in 

accordance with the SWMM requirements. 

o The amount of impervious surface area that has been included in the stormwater 

calculations shall be shown in the stormwater drainage report narrative and noted 

on the stormwater plans, including what the impervious surface area calculation 

includes (e.g., sidewalks, driveways, driveway approach, roof, etc.).  

o Source control measures shall be implemented for the development in accordance 

with PWDS 602.01.N.  The SWMM Source Control Manual defines the source control 

characteristics and uses and identifies structural source controls that must be 

implemented to manage the pollutants at their source. 

• Acceptable Point of Discharge – It shall be the responsibility of the Developer to provide 

a suitable discharge location for stormwater from the development which will not harm 

or inconvenience any adjacent or downstream properties.  An acceptable point of 

discharge is to be designed by the Design Engineer and approved by the City.  

• Stormwater Operation and Maintenance Plan and Agreement – Stormwater operation 

and maintenance of any private stormwater facilities will be the obligation of the 

property owner.  As such, a stormwater operation and maintenance plan and 

agreement (as approved by the City) will be required to ensure future operation and 

maintenance of the stormwater facilities.  See the Public Works Standard forms. 

• Stormwater Master Plan – There are no storm drainage improvements identified in the 

Stormwater Master Plan applicable to this development. 

• Engineered Plans – The Developer shall submit to the City for review and approval 

engineered stormwater conveyance, quality, and quantity plans, stormwater analysis 

and report, and an O&M plan and agreement conforming to Public Works Standards, 

and meeting the requirements of the Building Official.  A utility easement in accordance 

with PWDS 102.08 shall be provided if a public storm drainage main is extended outside 

the public right-of-way. 

Erosion and Sediment Control Measures 

• Erosion and Sediment Control Plan – The Developer shall submit to the City for review 

and approval an erosion and sediment control plan conforming to Public Works 

Standards.  Erosion and sediment control measures shall be in accordance with PWDS 

Division 7. 



 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

1319 W. WASHINGTON STREET  PAGE 8 OF 8 
APPLICATION REVIEW (1-21-22) 

 

Franchise Utilities 

• Franchise Utility Improvements – All franchise utility improvements, including but not 

limited to, telephone, electrical power, gas and cable TV shall meet the current 

standards of the appropriate agency as well as Public Works Standards.  All franchise 

utility plans shall be submitted to the City for review and approval prior to construction. 

Recommended Public Works Conditions of Approval 

1. The City of Stayton Standard Conditions of Approval shall apply.  All required easements, 

agreements, and other documentation required by the Planning Conditions of Approval, 

SMC, PWDS and other agencies having jurisdiction over the work shall be provided to 

the City for review and approval prior to issuance of a Site Development Permit. 

2. The following engineered plans and supporting documentation shall be submitted to the 

City for review and approval prior to issuance of a Site Development Permit. 

a. Site and street improvement plans conforming to the SMC and Public Works 

Standards.   

b. Water system plans conforming to the SMC, Public Works Standards, and 

meeting the requirements of the Building and Fire Code Official.  The Developer 

shall provide written documentation that the Fire Code Official has reviewed and 

approved all required private fire access, protection devices, and system 

modifications, unless otherwise deferred in writing by the Fire Code Official. 

c. Sanitary sewer system plans conforming to the SMC, Public Works Standards, 

and meeting the requirements of the Building Official, if modifications are 

needed. 

d. A stormwater analysis conforming to Public Works Standards.  Careful review 

and consideration of the area’s seasonal high groundwater impacts, including 

the necessary vertical separation requirements, will need to be included in the 

analysis. 

e. Stormwater conveyance, quality, and quantity facility plans conforming to Public 

Works Standards and meeting the requirements of the Building Official.  It shall 

be the responsibility of the Developer to provide an acceptable point of 

discharge for stormwater from the development which will not harm or 

inconvenience any adjacent or downstream properties and that conforms to 

Public Works Standards.  An acceptable point of discharge is to be designed by 

the Design Engineer and approved by the City. 

f. A stormwater operation and maintenance plan and agreement (as approved by 

the City) to ensure future operation and maintenance of the stormwater quality 

and quantity facilities.  

g. An erosion and sediment control plan for the site grading and earth disturbing 

activities conforming to Public Works Standards.  



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #16-12/21 

GFP Enterprises Site Plan Approval 

Page 1 of 15 

BEFORE THE STAYTON PLANNING COMMISSION 

In the matter of )  

The application for ) Site Plan Review 

GFP Enterprises, LLC ) File # 16-12/21 

 ) 

 

ORDER OF CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

I.  NATURE OF APPLICATIONS 

The applicant is requesting site plan approval for the construction of a wildfire fighting staging area. 

II. PUBLIC HEARING 

A public hearing was held on the application before the Stayton Planning Commission on January 31, 

2022.  At that hearing the Planning Commission reviewed Land Use File #16-12/21, application for 

site plan approval, and it was made part of the record. 

III. FINDINGS OF FACT 

A. GENERAL FACTS 

1. The owner of the property is Pollard Investments, LLC. 

2. The applicant is the GFP Enterprises, LLC. Donald Pollard is the owner of both LLCs. 

3. The property can be described as tax lot 1103, on Map 91W09DA and is Parcel 2 of Partition 

Plat 1998-004. 

4. The property is zoned Light Industrial (IL) 

5. The property is addressed 1319 W Washington St. 

6. The property has 191.74 feet of frontage on W Washington St.  The parcel is 0.51 acres in area. 

7. The adjacent property to the north is zoned IL and is developed with a manufacturing facility.  

The property to the west is zoned IL and is developed with a single family dwelling.  The 

property to the south, across W Washington St, is zoned IL, and is the former Norpac food 

manufacturing facility, currently used partially for cold storage, partially as office and 

warehouse for the Oregon Dept of Forestry.  The property to the east is an unused railroad right 

of way.  The property to the east of the railroad is zoned Commercial General and developed 

with single family dwelling. 

B. EXISTING CONDITIONS 

The property is vacant. 

C. PROPOSAL 

The application is to construct a 1,200 square foot 2-story office building, a 3,600 square foot shop 

building, paved parking and a gravel-surfaced storage area.  The plan includes a driveway entrance 

onto W Washington St and construction of a sidewalk along the W Washington St frontage of the 

property.  The plan provides for 4 parking spaces.  The plan shows two stormwater detention and 

treatment basins. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #16-12/21 

GFP Enterprises Site Plan Approval 

Page 2 of 15 

D. AGENCY COMMENTS 

The following agencies were notified of the proposal: City of Stayton Public Works, Santiam 

Water Control District, Wave Broadband, Stayton Cooperative Telephone Company (SCTC), 

Pacific Power, Northwest Natural Gas, Stayton Fire District, Stayton Police Department, North 

Santiam School District, Marion County Public Works, and Marion County Planning Division. 

Stayton Police Department responded with no comment.  Pacific Power replied that there are low 

utility lines along the frontage of the property that may need to be raised.  Written comments were 

received from the City Public Works Department through the City Engineer and the City’s 

transportation engineering consultant that are included in the findings below. 

E. PUBLIC COMMENTS  

The surrounding property owners were notified of the public hearing and the application by mail 

on January 6.  No comments were received from the public prior to the public hearing.   

F. ANALYSIS 

Site plan review applications are required to satisfy approval criteria contained within Stayton 

Municipal Code (SMC) Title 17, Section 17.12.220 and applicable provisions of the Development 

and Improvement Standards of Title 17, Chapter 20.  The applicable sections of Chapter 20 are 

17.20.060 – Off-Street Parking and Loading; 17.20.070 – Open Storage Areas and Outdoor Storage 

Yards; 17.20.080 – Special Street and Riparian Areas; 17.20.090 – Landscaping Requirements; 

17.20.170 – Outdoor Lighting; and 17.20.230 – Industrial Design Standards.  In addition, the 

application must meet the requirements of Section 17.26.020 – Access Management Requirements 

and Standards. 

G. APPROVAL CRITERIA 

Site Plan Review 

Section 17.12.220.5 Site Plan Review Criteria.  Pursuant to SMC 17.12.220.5 the following 

criteria must be demonstrated as being satisfied by the application: 

a. The existence of, or ability to obtain, adequate utility systems (including water, sewer, surface 

water drainage, power, and communications) and connections, including easements, to 

properly serve development in accordance with the City’s Master Plans and Standard 

Specifications. 

Findings:  There is a 6-inch water main in W Washington St.  The applicant intends to connect 

to the existing main with a service line northeast of the new driveway. 

The City Engineer has commented that ….  The City Engineer noted the need for a fire hydrant 

to be located within 250 feet of any building.  The City Engineer has recommended the 

applicant provide documentation that the Fire Code Official has reviewed and approved any 

required fire access, protection devices, and system modifications, unless otherwise deferred in 

writing by the Fire Code Official. 

There is an 10-inch sewer main in W Washington St.  The City’s GIS indicates that there is a 6-

inch diameter sewer lateral serving the property.  The existence and condition of the sewer 

lateral needs to be field verified.  The City Engineer noted that a two-way property line 

cleanout will need to be provided if one does not currently exist. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #16-12/21 

GFP Enterprises Site Plan Approval 

Page 3 of 15 

There is a stormwater catch basin on the north side of W Washington St at the southwest corner 

of the subject property.  This catch basin has an 18-inch diameter outlet. 

The applicant submitted a Preliminary Stormwater Management Report prepared by Lee 

Brennan, PE.  The stormwater management plan utilizes two retention basins.  The Public 

Works Department commented that the submitted storm water management plan appears to be 

acceptable.  The City Engineer noted that the final design will need to take into account 

potential high seasonal water table and infiltration rates of the growing medium in the retention 

facilities or the native soil infiltration rate. 

b. Provisions have been made for safe and efficient internal traffic circulation, including both 

pedestrian and motor vehicle traffic, and for safe access to the property from those public 

streets and roads which serve the property in accordance with the City’s Transportation 

System Plan and Standard Specifications. 

Finding:  The applicant submitted a Transportation Assessment Letter (TAL), prepared by Joe 

Bessman, PE.  The TAL estimated traffic to be generated by the development to be 25 daily 

trips with 4 trips in the PM peak hour. 

The TAL notes that the proposed driveway does not meet the City’s access spacing standards 

but that the direct alignment with the driveway on the south side of W Washington is the only 

logical placement of an access. 

Kittelson & Associates, the City’s traffic engineering consultant, reviewed the TAL and agreed 

with the findings, including the conclusion regarding the driveway location.  

c. Provision has been made for all necessary improvements to local streets and roads, including 

the dedication of additional right-of-way to the City and/or the actual improvement of traffic 

facilities to accommodate the additional traffic load generated by the proposed development of 

the site in accordance with Chapter 17.26. 

Finding:  W Washington St is improved with 34 feet of pavement within a 60-foot right of way, 

with curbs on both sides.  There is no sidewalk along the frontage of the subject property.  The 

applicant has proposed construction of a 6-foot property line sidewalk with planter strip and 

street trees. 

The City Engineer has recommended street improvement plans complying with the Geometric 

Design Requirements of PWDS 312.  The City Engineer has noted the need for a 10-foot public 

utility easement outside of the right of way.    

d. Provision has been made for parking and loading facilities as required by Section 17.20.060. 

Finding:  See findings relative to Section 17.20.060 below. 

e. Open storage areas or outdoor storage yards shall meet the standards of Section 17.20.070. 

Finding: See findings relative to Section 17.20.070 below. 

f. Site design shall minimize off site impacts of noise, odors, fumes or impacts. 

Finding: Sources of noise will be loading and unloading of vehicles.  There will be no odors, 

fumes or other impacts. 

g. The proposed improvements shall meet all applicable criteria of either Section 17.20.190 

Residential Design Standards, or Section 17.20.200 Commercial Design Standards. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #16-12/21 

GFP Enterprises Site Plan Approval 

Page 4 of 15 

Finding: The Residential Design Standards or Commercial Design Standards are not applicable 

to this application. 

j. Landscaping of the site shall prevent unnecessary destruction of major vegetation, preserve 

unique or unusual natural or historical features, provide for vegetative ground cover and dust 

control, present an attractive interface with adjacent land uses and be consistent with the 

requirements for landscaping and screening in Section 17.20.090. 

Finding: See the findings regarding Section 17.20.090 below. 

k. The design of any visual, sound, or physical barriers around the property such as fences, walls, 

vegetative screening, or hedges, shall allow them to perform their intended function without 

undue adverse impact on existing land uses. 

Finding:  The site plan and the landscape plan show a 6-foot fences along the perimeter of the 

property, but do not provide any information on the style or material of the fencing.  See the 

findings regarding Section 17.20.090 below.   

l. The lighting plan satisfies the requirements of Section 17.20.170. 

Finding: See the findings regarding Section 17.20.170 below. 

m. The applicant has established continuing provisions for maintenance and upkeep of all 

improvements and facilities. 

Finding: The application states will establish continuing provisions for maintenance and upkeep 
of all improvements and facilities on the final construction plans. 

n. When any portion of an application is within 100 feet of the North Santiam River or Mill Creek 

or within 25 feet of Salem Ditch, the proposed project will not have an adverse impact on fish 

habitat. 

Finding: The property is not within the specified distances of the named waterbodies. 

Section 17.20.060 – Off Street Parking Requirements 

The following is the applicable provision from Section 17.20.060 

17.20.060.5 LOCATION.  Off street parking and loading areas shall be provided on the same lot with 

the main building or use except that in any commercial, industrial, or public district, the parking area 

may be located within 500 feet of the main building. 

Finding:  The parking areas will be located on the same lot as the buildings. 

17.20.060.7.a REQUIREMENTS FOR AUTOMOBILE PARKING.  The minimum number of required 

off-street parking spaces for an office use is 3.5 parking spaces per 1,000 square feet. 

Finding:  At 3.5 spaces per 1,000 square feet of floor area, a 1,200 square foot office building 

requires 4.2 spaces.  Section 17.20.060.7.b indicates that the required number shall be rounded up 

if the fractional space is greater than 1/3. 

17.20.060.8.a HANDICAPPED/DISABLED PARKING.  The minimum number of required ADA 

accessible parking spaces for a parking area of with 25 or fewer spaces is 1.  ADA accessible spaces 

shall be located on the shortest possible accessible circulation route to an entrance of the building 

being accessed. 

Finding:  The site plan submitted provides for 1 ADA space. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #16-12/21 

GFP Enterprises Site Plan Approval 

Page 5 of 15 

17.20.060.9-A.1 BICYCLE PARKING REQUIREMENTS.  The minimum number of required bicycle 

parking spaces for office uses is 1 parking space per 1,000 square feet. 

Finding:  The site plan submitted provides for a bicycle rack capable of holding two bicycles. 

17.20.060.10.  DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS.  All parking and loading areas shall be developed 

and maintained as follows:  

b. Surfacing.  All driveways, parking and loading areas shall be paved with asphalt or concrete 

surfacing and shall be adequately designed, graded, and drained as required by the Public Works 

Director.  In no case shall drainage be allowed to flow across a public sidewalk.  Parking areas 

containing more than 5 parking spaces shall be striped to identify individual parking spaces. 

Finding:   The driveway and parking areas will be paved with asphalt concrete surfacing.  The 

parking area will be striped. 

d. Design of parking areas.  Except where provided for by subsection 7 of this section parking area 

design shall comply with Title 12 and Standard Specifications. 

1) Entrances and exits shall be clearly marked with pavement markings and/or signs.  Entrances 

and exits should favor right hand turns into and out of the area where possible and should be 

located at least 50 feet from intersections where possible.  

2) Backing into or across a street, sidewalk, or right-of-way from any parking area shall be 

prohibited.  The perimeter shall prevent access to or from the parking area except at 

designated entrances and exits.   

Finding:  The proposed driveway is aligned with the driveway intersection across W Washington 

St.  The parking area will be accessed from the driveway.  The parking area is designed such that 

vehicles will not be backing into the street or across a sidewalk along the street. 

e. Screening.  When any development with over 6 parking spaces or a loading area is adjacent to any 

residential district, that area shall be screened from all adjacent residential properties. Screening 

shall be done with an ornamental fence, wall, or hedge at least 4 feet high but not more than 7 feet 

high, except along an alley. 

Finding:  The site is not adjacent to a residential district. 

f. Lighting.  Any light used to illuminate a parking or loading area shall meet the standards of 

Section 17.20.170. 

Finding: See the findings regarding Section 17.20.170 below. 

17.20.060.11 PARKING AREA LANDSCAPING DESIGN STANDARDS. Landscaping required by the 

following standards shall be counted towards the overall landscaping requirements of Section 

17.20.090. 

a. Perimeter Landscaping. All parking areas shall be landscaped along the property boundaries 

as required by 17.20.090.11. 

Finding: See the findings for Section 17.20.090 below. 

a. Interior Landscaping. Interior landscaping of parking areas with 20 or more parking spaces 

shall meet the following standards. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #16-12/21 

GFP Enterprises Site Plan Approval 

Page 6 of 15 

1) One landscaped island shall be required for every 10 parking spaces in a row. The interior 

islands shall be a minimum of 6 feet in width (as measured from the inside of the curb to the 

inside of the curb) and shall include a minimum of 1 tree per island. 

2) Divider medians between rows of parking spaces ,that are a minimum of 6 feet in width (as 

measured from the inside of the curb to the inside of the curb) may be substituted for 

interior islands, provided that 1 tree is planted for every 40 feet and shall be landscaped in 

accordance with Section 17.20.090. 8. Where divider medians are parallel with the 

buildings, there shall be designated pedestrian crossings to preserve plant materials. 

3) A row of parking spaces shall be terminated on each end by a terminal island that is a 

minimum of 6 feet in width (from the inside of the curb to the inside of the curb). The 

terminal island shall have 1 tree is planted and shall be landscaped in accordance with 

Section 17.20.090.8. 

Finding:  The parking area does not have 20 or more parking spaces. 

c. Pedestrian Access. Off street parking areas shall be required to meet the following pedestrian 

access standards: 

1) The off street parking and loading plan shall identify the location of safe, direct, well 

lighted and convenient pedestrian walkways connecting the parking area and the buildings. 

2) All pedestrian walkways constructed within parking lots areas be raised to standard 

sidewalk height. 

3) Pedestrian walkways shall be attractive and include landscaping and trees.  

Finding: The parking area is connected to the street by a concrete walkway. 

Section 17.20.070 – Open Storage Areas and Outdoor Storage Yards 

The following are the applicable provisions from Section 17.20.070: 

1. Open Storage Areas. Where allowed by zoning districts, the development and use of open 

storage areas shall conform to the following standards. 

a. Open storage areas shall not occupy designated parking areas. 

b. Open storage areas located between the street right-of-way and the building shall not 

exceed 25% of the area between the front lot line and a parallel line drawn from the nearest 

point of the building. 

Finding: The open storage area is separated from the designated parking area and not located 

between the building  the area of the open storage area is less than 25% of the lot area between the 

street and front of the shop building. 

Section 17.20.080 – Special Street and Riparian Setbacks 

The following are the applicable provisions from Section 17.20.080: 

17.20.080.1.g:  There shall be a minimum building setback of 50 feet measured at right angles from 

the centerline of W Washington St. 

Finding: The proposed buildings will be setback more than 50 feet from the W Washington St 

centerline. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #16-12/21 

GFP Enterprises Site Plan Approval 

Page 7 of 15 

Section 17.20.090 – Landscaping Requirements 

The following are the applicable provisions from Section 17.20.090 

17.20.090.2: The minimum area of a site to be retained in landscaping in the IL zone for lot of less 

than 2 acres in area is 15%. 

Finding:  The total area of the parcel is 22,220 square feet.  A minimum of 3,333 square feet of 

landscaping is required.  The landscape plans shows a landscaped area of 7,170 square feet. 

17.20.090.5: Required Tree Plantings.  Plantings of trees is required along public street frontages, and 

long private driveways more than 150 feet long.  Trees shall be planted outside the street right of way 

except where there is a designated planting strip or a City-adopted street tree plan. 

a. Street trees species shall be selected from a list of approved species maintained by the Director of 

Public Works.  Other varieties may be used only with approval by the decision authority. 

Finding: The landscape plan proposes 6 Persian Ironwood trees to be planted as street trees within 

the W Washington St right of way.  Persian Ironwood is not on the list of approved species 

maintained by the Public Works Director. 

b. Spacing of Street Trees. Trees with a medium canopy shall be spaced 20 feet on center. Trees with 

a large canopy shall be spaced 25 feet on center. 

Finding: The landscape plan proposes trees will be planted along the W Washington St frontage 

approximately 25 feet on center. 

c. Trees shall be trimmed to a height that does not impede sight distance, pedestrian traffic or 

vehicular traffic. 

Finding:  The landscape plan does not address tree trimming after planting. 

17.20.090.6:  TREE PLANTING RESTRICTIONS.  Street trees shall not be planted: 

a. Within 10 feet of fire hydrants and utility poles, unless approved otherwise by the City 

Engineer. 

b. Where the decision authority determines the trees may be a hazard to the public interest or 

general welfare. 

c. Under overhead powerlines, if tree height at mature age exceeds the height of the power line. 

Finding:  The landscape plan includes a note regarding not planting trees within 10 feet of a fire 

hydrant or utility pole.  There are overhead power lines on the north side of W Washington St.  

Pacific Power has commented that telecommunication cables on the poles are relatively low. 

17.20.090.7:  IRRIGATION.  Due to an increasing public demand for water and the diminishing 

supply, economic and efficient water use shall be required.  Landscaping plans shall include 

provisions for irrigation. Specific means to achieve conservation of water resources shall be provided 

as follows: 

d. Any newly planted landscaped area shall have a permanent underground or drip irrigation 

system with an approved back flow prevention device. 

Finding:  An irrigation plan was submitted showing drip irrigation will be provided.. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #16-12/21 

GFP Enterprises Site Plan Approval 

Page 8 of 15 

17.20.090.8:  Requirements for Plant Materials. 

a. At least 75% of the required landscaping area shall be planted with a suitable combination of 

trees, shrubs, evergreens and/or ground cover.  The intent of this Section is to avoid large 

expanses of lawn without other landscaping features and the decision authority shall determine 

what constitutes a suitable combination of landscape material as part of the review of each 

landscape plan. 

b. Use of native plant materials or plants acclimated to the Pacific Northwest is encouraged to 

conserve water during irrigation. 

c. Trees shall be species having an average mature crown spread greater than 15 feet and having 

trunks which can be maintained in a clear condition so there is over 5 feet without branches.  

Trees having a mature crown spread less than 15 feet may be substituted by grouping trees to 

create the equivalent of a 15 foot crown spread. 

d. Deciduous trees shall be balled and burlapped or in a container, be a minimum of 7 feet in 

overall height or 1.5 inches in caliper measured at 4 feet above ground, immediately after 

planting.  Bare root trees will be acceptable to plant only during their dormant season. 

f. Shrubs shall be a minimum of 2 feet in height when measured immediately after planting. 

Finding:  The landscape plan calls for the establishment of landscaping with trees, shrubs, 

ornamental grasses and non-lawn ground covers.  The landscape plan indicates shrub sizes will be 

a minimum of two feet.  The landscape plan indicates that deciduous trees will be 2-inch caliper 

and a minimum height of eight feet.   

17.20.090.11:  Buffer Planting – Parking, Loading and Maneuvering Areas. 

a. Buffering is required for any commercial, industrial, or multi-family development with more 

than 4 parking spaces. Buffering shall occur in the following manner: 

1) Any parking area, loading area, or vehicle maneuvering area shall be landscaped along 

property boundaries. The landscaped area for an industrial use adjacent to a single family 

residence shall be 15 feet and adjacent to an arterial street shall be 10 feet. 

Finding:  There is a buffer planting of less than 10 feet between the gravel outdoor storage area and 

the property line of the adjacent single family dwelling.  The buffer plantings between the street 

and parking area and gravel storage area exceeds 10 feet. 

2) Decorative walls and fences may be used in conjunction with plantings, but may not be 

used by themselves to comply with buffering requirements and must meet the standards of 

Section 17.20.050. 

Finding:  The plans show a 6-foot fence along the property side and rear property lines, but no 

information has been provided as to the style or material of the proposed fence. 

17.20.090.12:  Screening (Hedges, Fences, Walls, Berms).  Screening is used where unsightly views or 

visual conflicts must be obscured or blocked and where privacy and security are desired.  Fences and 

walls used for screening may be constructed of wood, concrete, stone, brick, and wrought iron, or 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #16-12/21 

GFP Enterprises Site Plan Approval 

Page 9 of 15 

other commonly used fencing/wall materials.  Acoustically designed fences and walls are also used 

where noise pollution requires mitigation. 

a. Height and Capacity.  Where landscaping is used for required screening, it shall be at least 6 

feet in height and be at least 80 percent opaque, as seen from a perpendicular line of sight, 

within 2 years following establishment of the primary use of the site. 

b. Chain Link Fencing.  A chain link fence with sight obscuring slats shall qualify for screening 

only if a landscape buffer is also provided. 

c. Height Measurement.  The height of fences, hedges, walls and berms shall be measured from 

the lowest adjoining finished grade, except where used to comply with screening requirements 

for parking, loading, storage, and similar areas.  In these cases, height shall be measured from 

the finished grade of such improvements.  Screening is prohibited within the sight distance 

triangle. 

d. Berms.  Earthen berms up to 6 in height may be used to comply with screening requirements.  

Slope of berms may not exceed 2:1 and both faces of the slope shall be planted with ground 

cover, shrubs and trees. Bark mulch or other non-living materials shall not be used as the 

ground cover for an earthen berm. 

Finding:  The plans show a 6-foot fence along the property side and rear property lines, but no 

information has been provided as to the style or material of the proposed fence. 

Section 17.20.170 – Outdoor Lighting 

2.  GENERAL STANDARDS. Lighting may be provided which serves security, safety and 

operational needs but which does not directly or indirectly produce deleterious effects on 

abutting properties or which would impair the vision of the traveling public on adjacent 

roadways.  Lighting fixtures with more than 800 lumens of light output shall be cut-off fixtures 

so that the lighting elements are not exposed to normal view by motorists, pedestrians, or from 

adjacent dwellings.  Direct or indirect illumination shall not exceed 0.5 foot candles upon 

abutting lots in residential use measured at the property line. 

Finding: The application included information on the type of outdoor lighting fixture to be installed 

and included a plan showing the location or number of fixtures and the illumination levels.  A pole 

mounted light will be a 34W LED fixture on a 20-foot pole.  Outdoor lighting fixtures on the 

buildings will include three 34W LED full cut-off wall packs.  The illumination diagram indicates 

that the 0.5 foot candle illumination level will be away from the property line. 

5. NON-RESIDENTIAL LIGHTING STANDARDS. The following additional standards shall apply 

to all commercial, industrial, public and semi-public uses: 

a. Lighting of Parking Areas. Parking area lighting shall provide the minimum lighting 

necessary to ensure adequate vision and comfort in parking areas, and to not cause glare 

or direct illumination onto adjacent properties or streets. 

1) All lighting fixtures serving parking areas shall be full cut-off fixtures. 

3) Parking area lighting in an industrial zone shall have a maximum mounting height of 

25 feet, a minimum illumination level of 0.5 foot-candles, a maximum illumination level 

of 2.6 foot candles, a uniformity ratio of 4:1, and a minimum color rendering index of 

20. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #16-12/21 

GFP Enterprises Site Plan Approval 

Page 10 of 15 

Finding:  Pole mounted lights around the parking area will be a 34W LED fixture on a 20-foot 

pole.  The parking areas will also be illuminated from the wall packs on the buildings.  Information 

regarding the wall packs conformance as full cut-off fixtures was not provided.  The illumination 

diagram indicates that the illumination level will be between than 0.6 foot-candles and 1.8 foot 

candles in the parking area.  The illumination diagram indicates the uniformity ratio will be 2.83:1.   

Section 17.20.230 – Industrial Design Standards 

The following are the applicable provisions from Section 17.20.230 

2.  SITE DESIGN. 

a. Height Step Down.  To provide compatible scale and relationships between new multi-story 

industrial buildings and existing adjacent dwellings not in an industrial zone, the multi-

story building shall “step down” to create a building height transition to adjacent single-

family building(s).  The transition standard is met when the height of any portion of the 

taller structure does not exceed 3 feet in height for every 2 feet separating that portion of 

the multi-story building from the adjacent dwelling.  This provision shall apply to any 

industrial building with a vertical wall height of 14 feet or more, regardless of whether the 

interior contains more than one story. 

Finding: The adjacent dwelling to the west is in an industrial zone.  The existing dwelling to the 

east is approximately 50 feet from the easterly property line.  The office building will be 

approximately 22 feet tall. 

b. Outdoor Service Areas. Outdoor service areas shall either face an interior area, side or 

rear property line, a separate service corridor, a service alley, or a service courtyard. 

1) If the location of an outdoor service area as proscribed by this Section is difficult to 

accommodate because of site considerations, the decision authority may determine that 

the service area may be located in another location with additional screening 

requirements. 

2) Screening of outdoor service areas. Screening shall be provided when an outdoor 

service area is adjacent to a property in residential use or adjacent to a residential 

zone.  Screening shall also be provided to soften the effects of outdoor service areas as 

they may be viewed from a public street. 

a. Outdoor service areas shall be screened either with evergreen hedge or solid fence 

of materials similar to the rest of the development that is a minimum of 6 feet in 

height. 

b. When the outdoor service area is more than 300 feet from a neighboring residence, 

screening is not required. 

Finding: The site plan does not show the location of any outdoor service areas. 

c. Parking Areas. In addition to the requirements of Section 17.20.060, parking areas shall 

meet the requirements of Section 17.20.090.12. 

Finding: See the findings regarding Section 17.20.090 above. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #16-12/21 

GFP Enterprises Site Plan Approval 

Page 11 of 15 

3.  ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS. 

a. Pedestrian Orientation. The design of all new buildings on a site shall support a safe 

pedestrian environment. This standard is met when the decision authority finds that all of 

the following criteria are met: 

1) Primary building entrances shall have walkways connecting to the street sidewalk. 

2) Any portion of an industrial building that is used for sales to the public shall meet the 

architectural standards of Section 17.20.200.4. 

Findings: A walkway connects the building entrances to the street.  No portion of the building will 

be used for sales to the public. 

b. Standards for breaks in building facade. 

1) For all buildings more than 75 feet long: 

a) A pitched roof building shall have a break in the roof plane or wall, or articulation 

of the building face at least every 50 feet. 

b) A flat roof building shall have a horizontal or vertical change in the wall plane, or 

articulation of the building face at least every 50 feet. 

c) Wall changes may be accomplished by use of differing architectural materials or 

building siding and need not be physical changes in the wall plane. 

d) Horizontal and vertical offsets required by this Section shall relate to the overall 

design and organization of the building, its entrances, and door and window 

treatments.  Features shall be designed to emphasize building entrances. 

e) The above standards shall not apply to walls not visible from a public street or from 

neighboring residential properties within the city limits. 

Finding: Neither of the proposed buildings are more than 75 feet in any dimension. 

4. LIGHTING. All new industrial development shall provide a lighting plan that meets the 

standards of Section 17.20.170 

Finding: See the findings regarding Section 17.20.170 above.   

Section 17.26.020 –Access Management Requirements and Standards 

The following are the applicable provisions from Section 17.26.020 

2. NUMBER OF ALLOWED ACCESSES. 

c. Number of Allowed Accesses for Multi-Family Uses. 

The number of driveways allowed for non-residential uses shall be based on the daily trip 

generation of the site in question.  One driveway shall be allowed for up to 2,500 daily trips 

generated with a maximum of two driveways.  An exception shall be allowed if it is proven 

through a traffic impact study that this limitation creates a significant traffic operations 

hardship for on-site traffic.  The primary criteria to allow more driveways will be level of 

service (see standards in 17.26.050) analysis, queuing analysis, and safety analysis of the 

site accesses.  If a development has a need for more than two access points, then 

signalization of the main access shall be investigated as a potential option prior to allowing 

additional driveways.  A signal warrant study will then be required to study whether or not 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #16-12/21 

GFP Enterprises Site Plan Approval 

Page 12 of 15 

signalization of the main access is required.  The Public Works Director or his/her 

designee shall determine whether the traffic study adequately proves that more accesses are 

needed for a particular project. 

Finding:  The site plan proposes a single driveway. 

3. LOCATION OF ACCESSES. 

Vehicle access locations shall be provided based on the following criteria: 

h. Access Spacing Standards 

The streets within Stayton are classified as arterials, minor arterials, collectors, and local 

streets.  The access spacing standards are shown in Table 17.26.020.3.h. for both full 

intersection spacing and driveway spacing. Table 17.26.020.3.h requires a minimum of 300 

feet on a minor arterial street. 

Finding:  The Transportation Assessment Letter notes that the proposed driveway will not conform 

with the separation requirement but will be aligned with the driveway across W Washington St and 

that there is no location on the site that will conform with the standard and this is the most logical 

location.   

4. ACCESS STANDARDS. 

a. Driveway Design. 

1) See Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction, Section 300 – Street Design 

Standards, 2.22b for minimum and maximum driveway widths. 

Finding:  The driveway standards have been moved into the Public Works Design Standards 

(PWDS).  The PWDS allow driveways in industrial zones between 12 feet and 36 feet in width.  

The proposed driveway is 24 feet in width. 

2) Driveways providing access into off-street, surface parking lots shall be designed in 

such a manner to prevent vehicles from backing into the flow of traffic on the public 

street or to block on-site circulation.  The driveway throat approaching the public street 

shall have adequate queue length for exiting vehicles to queue on-site without blocking 

on-site circulation of other vehicles.  The driveway throat approaching the public street 

shall also have sufficient storage for entering traffic not to back into the flow of traffic 

onto the public street.  A traffic impact study, subject to approval by the Public Works 

Director or his/her designee, shall be used to determine the adequate queue length of 

the driveway throat.  This requirement shall be applied in conjunction with the design 

requirements of parking lots in section 17.20.060.9.  If there is a conflict between these 

two code provisions, then this code provision supersedes those of 17.20.060.9. 

Finding:  The driveway throat is approximately 36 feet from the curb, or two cars in length.  A 

security gate is proposed that will be 25 feet from the curb, allowing a vehicle to pull into the 

driveway without blocking traffic to wait for the gate to open. 

3) Driveway approaches must be designed and located to provide an exiting vehicle with 

an unobstructed view.  Sight distance triangle requirements are identified in 

17.26.020.4.c and 17.26.020.4.d.   

Finding:  See the findings for Section 17.26.020.4.c below. 

c. Sight Distance Triangle 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #16-12/21 

GFP Enterprises Site Plan Approval 

Page 13 of 15 

Traffic entering an uncontrolled public road from a stop sign controlled public road, or 

from private roads or private driveways, shall have minimum sight distances, as shown in 

Table 17.26.020.4.c, except as allowed in 17.26.020.4.d.  Table 17.26.020.4.c requires a 

minimum sight distance triangle of 250 feet along a street with a design speed of 35 mph. 

Finding:  The TAL reports the sight distances at the driveway exceed 500 feet. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

Based on the facts above, the Planning Commission concludes that the application meets the 

requirements established in SMC Section 17.12.220, and Sections 17.20.060, 17.20.070, 17.20.080, 

17.20.090, 17.20.170, 17.20.230, and 17.26.020 except for the following: 

1. 17.20.090.5.a.  This section requires that street trees species be selected from a list of approved 

species maintained by the Public Works Director.  The Persian Ironwood proposed is not on the 

City’s list of street trees.  This standard could be met if the selected street tree is approved by 

the Public Works Director or a species is chosen that is on the City’s list of approved trees. 

2. 17.20.090.5.c.  This section requires that street trees be trimmed to not impede sight distance, 

pedestrian traffic or vehicular traffic.  The landscape plan did not include any information on 

trimming street trees after planting.  This standard could be met if the landscape plan is 

modified to address trimming street trees after planting. 

3. 17.20.090.11.a.2) and 11.12.090.12.  These sections allow decorative walls and fences to bused 

in conjunction with plantings to achieve buffering requirements, but state that a chain link 

fence with slats may not be used for screening unless there is also a landscape buffer also 

provided.  The plans show a 6-foot fence along the property side and rear property lines, but no 

information has been provided as to the style or material of the proposed fence.  This standard 

could be met if the landscape plan is modified to address the style, materials, opacity, etc. of 

the proposed fence and whether the fence is intended to be part of the buffering and screening 

of the site from adjacent residential uses. 

4. Section 17.20.230.2.b.  This section proscribes the location of outdoor service areas.  The site 

plan does not show the location of an outdoor service area.  This standard could be met if the 

site plan is modified to show the location of an outdoor service area meeting the requirements 

of this section or if the applicant states that there will be no outdoor service area. 

V. ORDER 

Based on the conclusion above, the Planning Commission approves the application for site plan 

approval, as shown on a 10-sheet set of plans entitled Proposed Fire Staging Facility Site Plan Review 

Submittal, prepared by Project Delivery Group, LLC, dated October , 2021 and the accompanying 

materials that comprised the complete application, subject to the attached standard conditions of 

approval and the following specific conditions of approval: 

1. Prior to the submittal of the application for any building permits the applicant shall obtain a 

Site Development Permit from the Public Works Director. 

2. Prior to the submittal of an application for a Site Development Permit, the applicant shall either 

submit a revised site plan to the Planning and Development Director that shows the location of 

an outdoor service area that meets the requirements of Section 17.20.230.2.b or shall clarify 

and verify that there will be no outdoors service areas on the site. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #16-12/21 

GFP Enterprises Site Plan Approval 

Page 14 of 15 

3. Prior to the submittal of an application for a Site Development Permit, the applicant shall 

provide specifications for the style, material, opacity of the proposed fence along the side and 

rear property lines.  The fence may not be a chain link fence with sight obscuring slats unless a 

landscape buffer is provided on the outside of the fence. 

4. With the submittal of the application for a Site Development Permit, the applicant shall submit 

the following engineered plans and supporting documentation for review and approval by the 

City Public Works Department.  

a. Street improvement plans for any work to be conducted in the public right of way.  Street 

improvement shall include a 6-foot property line sidewalk along the entire frontage of the 

property; a minimum 5-foot landscape strip; and street trees, unless otherwise approved by 

the Public Works Director.  Street trees shall be acceptable to the Public Works Director, 

considering the low utility lines noted by Pacific Power.  The property owner shall dedicate 

a 10-foot Public Utility Easement adjacent to the right of way along the entire frontage of 

the property or provide documentation that such an easement currently exists.   

b. Water system plans conforming to Public Works Standards and meeting the requirements of 

the Building and Fire Code Official.  A utility easement in accordance with Public Works 

Design Standards 102.08 shall be provided if a public water main and or fire hydrant is 

located outside of the public right of way. 

c. Sanitary sewer system plans conforming to Public Works Standards, and meeting the 

requirements of the Building Official.  All buildings shall be served by a minimum 6-inch 

sanitary sewer service lateral.  If the applicant intends to the utilize the existing lateral, it 

shall be televised and inspected prior to reuse.  The applicant shall provide a two-way 

property line clean out on the sewer lateral. 

d. A final stormwater analysis, drainage report, plans and supporting documentation 

conforming to PWDS.  Careful review and consideration of the area’s seasonal high 

groundwater impacts will need to be included in the analysis.  The proposed stormwater 

facilities will need to properly function during periods of high groundwater and the water 

quality of the groundwater needs to be adequately protected.  If UICs are proposed, then 

written documentation shall be provided to the City that UIC approval and necessary 

permit(s) have been obtained from DEQ.  Whereas the preliminary stormwater plans 

showed stormwater storage facilities on imported fill material, a geotechnical engineer will 

need to be actively involved in the design and will need to review the stormwater facility 

designs if infiltration is proposed within imported fill material. 

 It shall be the responsibility of the Developer to provide an acceptable point of discharge 

for stormwater from the development which will not harm or inconvenience any adjacent or 

downstream properties and that conforms to Public Works Standards.  An acceptable point 

of discharge is to be designed by the Design Engineer and approved by the City. 

The Developer shall provide a stormwater operation and maintenance plan/agreement (as 

approved by the City) to ensure future operation and maintenance of the private stormwater 

facilities.  The stormwater operation and maintenance plan shall be recorded in the Marion 

County Deed Records. 

e. An erosion and sediment control plan for any site grading or earth disturbing activities, 

conforming to PWDS. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #16-12/21 

GFP Enterprises Site Plan Approval 

Page 15 of 15 

f. Draft deeds for the public utility easement shall be submitted for review and approval by 

the City prior to their execution by the property owner(s). 

5. Prior to the occupancy of the development, sight distance at the driveway intersection shall to 

be verified, documented, and stamped by a registered professional Civil or Traffic Engineer to 

assure that buildings, signs, or landscaping does not restrict sight distance to less than 250 feet. 

VI. OTHER PERMITS AND RESTRICTIONS 

The applicant is herein advised that the use of the property involved in this application may require 

additional permits from the City or other local, State or Federal agencies. 

The City of Stayton Land Use review and approval process does not take the place of, or relieve the 

Applicant of responsibility for, acquiring such other permits, or satisfy any restrictions or conditions 

there on. The land use permit approval herein does not remove, alter, or impair in any way the 

covenants or restrictions imposed on this property by deed or other instrument. 

VII. EFFECTIVE DATE 

This decision regarding this application is final, but shall not become effective until the 15th day after 

the mailing of the Notice of Decision in this case, and then only if no appeal to the Stayton City 

Council is timely filed.  In the event of a timely appeal to the City Council, this decision shall not 

become effective until the appeal is finally resolved, including any appeals from the decision of the 

City Council to the Oregon Land Use Board of Appeals. 

Subject to the Effective Date of this decision set forth herein, the land use approval granted by this 

decision shall be effective only when the exercise of the rights granted herein is commenced within 1 

year of the effective date of this decision.  Construction must have commenced on site improvements 

with a valid Site Development Permit issued by the Public Works Department.  In case such right has 

not been exercised or extension obtained, the approval shall be void.  A written request for an 

extension of time may be filed with the Director of Planning and Development at least 30 days prior to 

the expiration date of the approval. 

 

VIII. APPEAL DATES 

The Planning Commission’s action may be appealed to the Stayton City Council pursuant to Stayton 

Municipal Code Section 17.12.110 APPEALS. 

 

 __________________________ __________________ 

 Ralph Lewis, Date 

 Planning Commission Chairperson   

 

 __________________________ __________________ 

 Dan Fleishman, Date 

 Director of Planning and Development 



 

Standard Conditions of Approval Page 1 of 3 

Standard Conditions of Approval for Land Use Applications 

General 

1. Approved Land Use Plans - Minor variations to the approved land use plans shall be 

permitted provided the development substantially conforms to the submitted land use 

plans, conditions of approval, and all applicable standards contained in the Stayton 

Municipal Code (SMC) and City of Stayton Public Works Standards. The applicant 

shall be responsible for all costs relating to the development, including the design and 

construction of any required public improvements identified for the project in the 

approved land use plans, the conditions of approval, the SMC, and Public Works 

Standards.  

2. City Approvals - The applicant shall obtain any and all required reviews, approvals, 

and permits from the City prior to construction of the project. 

3. Change in Use - Any change in the use of the premises from that identified in the 

application shall require the City Planner to determine that the proposed use is an 

allowed use and that adequate parking is provided for the development. 

4. Landscaping - The applicant shall remain in substantial conformance to the approved 

landscaping plan and follow the criteria established in SMC 17.20.090 for 

maintenance and irrigation.  Dead plants shall be replaced within six months with a 

specimen of the same species and similar size class. 

Prior to Engineered Plan Approval 

5. Design Standards - All public and privately financed public improvements within 

the project shall be prepared, signed, and stamped by a Professional Engineer 

registered in the State of Oregon and shall be designed to the most current edition of 

the Public Works Standards plus the requirements of the SMC in effect at the time the 

engineered plans are submitted. (SMC 12.08.310.1) 

6. Engineered Plans - The applicant’s design engineer shall submit engineered plans 

for review and approval of all required public improvements identified for the project 

in the approved land use plans, the conditions of approval, the SMC and Public 

Works Standards.  Engineered plans shall be reviewed by the City and signed 

approved by the City Engineer or Public Works Director, prior to issuance of City 

permits. All conditions of approval for the project will need to be met to the 

satisfaction of the City Planner and Public Works Director prior to approval of the 

engineered plans. 

7. Surveys – Surveys for public improvements shall be performed under the direction of 

a Professional Land Surveyor registered in the State of Oregon. 

8. Utility Coordination - Utility companies and public agencies as applicable shall be 

notified early in the design process and in advance of construction to coordinate all 

parties impacted by the construction. 

9. Agency Approvals - The applicant shall obtain any and all required reviews, 

approvals, and permits from all City, State and Federal agencies having jurisdiction 

over the work.  This may include, but is not limited to, the City, Marion County, 



 

Standard Conditions of Approval Page 2 of 3 

DEQ, OHA-DWS, DSL, Fire Code Official, Building Code Official, etc. Written 

documentation of all required agency approvals as applicable shall be submitted to 

the City prior to approval of the engineered plans. 

Prior to Construction 

10. Developer Agreement – Where public improvements are required, the applicant 

shall submit to the City an approved (by City Attorney) Developer-Engineer-City 

Agreement signed and notarized by the applicant and the design engineer, or a signed 

Developer-Engineer of Record Agreement (for minor privately financed public 

improvements) signed by the applicant and the design engineer, prior to issuance of 

City permits. 

11. Permits, Insurance, and Indemnification – All required permits, insurance, and 

indemnification shall be obtained by the applicant and provided to the City in 

accordance with the Public Works Standards prior to construction. A 1200C permit 

shall be secured by the applicant if required under the rules of the Oregon State DEQ. 

12. Design Engineer’s Estimate – Where public improvements are required, an estimate 

performed by the design engineer of the total estimated project cost shall be provided 

to the City for review and acceptance. This is needed to determine the amount of 

bonding required for the project. 

13. Performance Bond - Where public improvements are required, a performance bond, 

or other form of performance guarantee acceptable to the City Manager and City 

Attorney, is required to be in place, prior to issuance of City permits. The applicant 

shall provide a performance bond in the amount of 125% of the total estimated 

project cost in accordance with the Public Works Standards. The performance bond 

shall be in a form acceptable to the Public Works Director. 

14. Pre-Construction Conference - Where public improvements are required, a pre-

construction conference shall be held prior to construction in accordance with the 

Public Works Standards. 

During Construction and Project Completion 

15. Construction Specifications - Where public improvements are required, all public 

and privately financed public improvements within the project shall be constructed to 

the most current edition of the Public Works Standards plus the requirements of the 

SMC in effect at the time the engineered plans are submitted. (SMC 12.08.310.1) 

16. Construction Inspection- Where public improvements are required, all public 

improvements shall be inspected by the design engineer, or a qualified individual 

under their supervision, in accordance with the Public Works Standards to assure the 

construction is following the approved engineered plans.  At least three days prior to 

construction, the applicant shall notify the Public Works Director in writing of the 

date when the applicant proposes to commence construction. The written notification 

shall include the name and phone number of the contracting company and the 

responsible contact person. Any supplemental inspection by the City does not relieve 

the applicant or the design engineer of providing the required inspection. 



 

Standard Conditions of Approval Page 3 of 3 

17. Project Completion - Where public improvements are required, the public 

improvements and public utilities shall be fully constructed and a project completion 

report that certifies to the City that the project was constructed according to the 

approved plans and specifications and that the correct required testing and inspections 

were satisfactorily performed shall be provided by the design engineer in accordance 

with the Public Works Standards. Unless the required public improvements are 

deferred under a non-remonstrance or other agreement approved and signed by the 

City, a notice of final completion and provisional acceptance of the public 

improvements is to be provided by the City to the applicant following the completion 

of construction, prior to the recording of the final plat and prior to any building permit 

applications being accepted or issued. Construction items must be completed within a 

specified period of time provided in the approval letter or the approval of any 

additional building permits will be withdrawn by the City. 

18. Warranty Bond - Where public improvements are required, after completion and 

provisional acceptance of the public improvements by the City, the applicant shall 

provide a 1-year warranty bond in the amount of 30% of the performance bond 

amount in accordance with the Public Works Standards. The warranty bond shall be 

in a form acceptable to the Public Works Director. 

19. Record Drawings - Where public improvements are required, the applicant shall 

submit to the City, reproducible record drawings and an electronic file of all public 

improvements constructed during and in conjunction with the project within three 

months of the completion of construction. Field changes made during construction 

shall be drafted on the plans in the same manner as the original plans with clear 

indication of all modifications (strike out old with new added beside). Record 

drawings shall be submitted prior to provisional acceptance of the construction, 

initiating the one-year maintenance period. 

20. Warranty Bond Release and Final Acceptance – Where public improvements are 

required, the release of the warranty bond and final acceptance of the public 

improvements will be in accordance with SMC 12.04.310 and the Public Works 

Standards 

21. SDCs and Other Utility Fees - Systems Development Charges and other utility fees 

as applicable, will be applied to the project at the time of issuance of a building 

permit. 

 


	1. Agenda 013122
	2.  meeting memo
	3. Minutes
	4. Jan hearing PC Staff Report
	5. App form Comp Plan Amend- Fillable
	6. App form Zone Map Amend - Fillable
	7. Applicants Narrative
	Comp-Zone Change Report Title Page
	Comp-Zone Change Rpt  12-2021

	8. Freres Building Supply TPR Final_08.05.20
	Existing Zoning (HD) Trip Generation
	Proposed Zoning (CR) Trip Generation
	Transportation Planning Rule Findings
	Planned Development Trip Generation
	Summary and recommendation

	9. Freres Building Supply Zone Change Site Plan 3-16-21
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	10. Current Comprehensive Plan
	11. Proposed Comprehensive Plan
	12. City Engineer Email
	13. Kittelson Review comments
	14. Draft PC Order
	15. Jan hearing PC Staff Report
	16. Application and Narrative
	17. Arborists Letter
	18. Transportation Analysis
	19. Site Plan
	20. Kittelson TAL Review comments
	21. City Engineer Review Memo
	22. Draft Order
	The following are the applicable provisions from Section 17.20.230
	2.  SITE DESIGN.
	3.  ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS.
	General
	Prior to Engineered Plan Approval
	Prior to Construction
	During Construction and Project Completion



